

Epidemiology of Acute Kidney Injury in Denmark

Population-based studies of occurrence and prognosis

PhD dissertation

Simon Kok Jensen

Health Aarhus University Department of Clinical Epidemiology

2023

Supervisors

Christian Fynbo Christiansen, MD, PhD, Professor, Consultant (Main supervisor)

Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Department of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University and Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark

Uffe Heide-Jørgensen, MSc, PhD, Part-time Lecturer, Statistician (Co-supervisor)

Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Department of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University and Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark

Henrik Gammelager, MD, PhD, Pre-graduate education officer, Senior Registrar (Co-supervisor)

Department of Intensive Care Medicine, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark

Henrik Birn, MD, PhD, DMSc, Professor, Consultant (Co-supervisor)

Department of Biomedicine, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark Department of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark Department of Renal Medicine, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark

Collaborators

Søren Viborg Vestergaard, MD, PhD, Resident

Department of Clinical Pharmacology, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark

Dorothea Nitsch, MD, MSc, Professor, Honorary Consultant

Department of Non-communicable Disease Epidemiology, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom

Simon Sawhney, MD, PhD, Senior Lecturer, Consultant

Aberdeen Centre for Health Data Science, School of Medicine, Medical Sciences and Nutrition, University of Aberdeen, Aberdeen, Scotland NHS Grampian, Aberdeen, Scotland

Søren Paaske Johnsen, MD, PhD, Professor, Consultant

Danish Center for Clinical Health Services Research, Department of Clinical Medicine, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark

Henrik Toft Sørensen, MD, PhD, DMSc, DSc, Professor, Consultant and Chair

Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Department of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University and Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark

Thomas Bøjer Rasmussen, MSc, Statistician

Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Department of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University and Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark

Bjarke Hejlskov Jacobsen, MSc, Statistician

Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Department of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University and Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark

Assessment committee

Per Ramløv Ivarsen, MD, PhD, Professor, Consultant (Chairman of the committee)

Department of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark Department of Renal Medicine, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark

Marlies Ostermann MD, PhD, Honorary Senior Lecturer, Consultant Department of Critical Care, King's College London, London, United Kingdom Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom

Lisbet Brandi, MD, PhD, DMSc, Associate Professor, Head Consultant

Institute of Clinical Medicine, Copenhagen University, Copenhagen, Denmark Department of Endocrinology and Nephrology, Nordsjællands Hospital, Hillerød, Denmark

Acknowledgements

During my PhD fellowship at the Department of Clinical Epidemiology (DCE), Aarhus University and Aarhus University Hospital, I have had the honor and privilege of working with a large group of highly skilled researchers, to whom I owe a great debt of gratitude. Specifically, I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to:

Christian Fynbo Christiansen, for taking a chance on an introductory resident in anesthesiology with no experience in clinical epidemiology. Thank you for your generous support, guidance, and patience. Our weekly meetings have been a source of inspiration, a safe haven in times of adversity, and greatly supported my development as a researcher.

Uffe Heide-Jørgensen, for always having an open door when statistical and methodological feedback was needed and for taking the time to engage in discussions whether big or small.

Henrik Gammelager, for introducing me to the field of clinical epidemiology. Had it not been for your enthusiasm and guidance, I do not think that I would have found my way into clinical epidemiology.

Henrik Birn, for your thoughtful guidance and for sharing your vast knowledge within the field of nephrology.

Søren Paaske Johnsen, for hosting me at the Danish Center for Clinical Health Services Research, Aalborg University. At a time of great uncertainty due to the COVID-19 pandemic, you invited me to Aalborg and made my stay a memorable and rewarding experience. I genuinely enjoyed the visit.

Bjarke Hejlskov Jacobsen and Thomas Bøjer Rasmussen, for sharing your expertise in statistics and programming.

My colleagues at DCE for contributing to a warm and friendly work environment and to my various office mates for not letting the local work environment become too warm.

My wife, Mette, for your endless encouragement, love, and patience. I am so happy for the life that we share. My two (almost three) kids, for all the liveliness, joy, and laughter you bring to our lives. My parents and parents-in-law, for your support and willingness to offer a helping hand when called upon.

Simon Kok Jensen, April 2023

Grants

This dissertation was made possible thanks to financial support from:

- Aarhus University
- The Health Research Foundation of the Central Denmark Region
- The A.P. Møller Foundation

List of papers

This dissertation is based on the following four studies, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals (I-IV). The studies are attached in the corresponding appendices, I-IV.

- Routine Clinical Care Creatinine Data in Denmark An Epidemiological Resource for Nationwide Population-Based Studies of Kidney Disease.
 Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Vestergaard SV, Sørensen HT, Christiansen CF. Clin Epidemiol. 2022 Nov 22;14:1415-1426. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S380840.
- II. Kidney function before and after acute kidney injury: a nationwide population-based cohort study.

Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Vestergaard SV, Gammelager H, Birn H, Nitsch D, Christiansen CF. Clin Kidney J. 2022 Nov 18;16(3):484-493. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfac247.

III. Regional variation in incidence and prognosis of acute kidney injury in Denmark: a populationbased cohort study.

Jensen SK, Rasmussen TB, Jacobsen BH, Heide-Jørgensen U, Sawhney S, Gammelager H, Birn H, Johnsen SP, Christiansen CF. *Submitted*.

IV. Acute kidney injury duration and 20-year risks of chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease: a population-based cohort study.
 Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Gammelager H, Birn H, Christiansen CF. In preparation.

Abbreviations

aHR	Adjusted hazard ratio	KDIGO	Kidney Disease: Improving Global
ADQI	Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative		Outcomes
AKD	Acute kidney disease	KRT	Kidney replacement therapy
AKI	Acute kidney injury	LABKA	Clinical Laboratory Information
AKIN	Acute Kidney Injury Network		System Research Database
ARF	Acute renal failure	MACE	Major atherosclerotic cardiovascular event
ATC	Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical	MAKE	Major adverse kidney event
CCI	Charlson Comorbidity Index	MDRD	Modification of Diet in Renal Disease
CI	Confidence interval	MeSH	Medical Subject Headings
CKD	Chronic kidney disease	NHSR	National Health Service Registry
CKD-EPI	Chronic Kidney Disease	NPR	National Prescription Registry
	Epidemiology Collaboration	pCr	Plasma creatinine
CRS	Civil Registration System	PPV	Positive predictive value
CVD	Cardiovascular disease	RIFI F	Risk of renal dysfunction Injury to
DNPR	Danish National Patient Registry		the kidney, Failure of kidney
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate		function, Loss of kidney function,
ESKD	End-stage kidney disease		and End-stage kidney disease
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate	RLRR	Register of Laboratory Results for
HR	Hazard ratio		Research
ICD	International Classification of	sCr	Serum creatinine
	Disease	SNOMED	Systemized Nomenclature of
ICU	Intensive care unit		Medicine
IQR	interquartile range	UO	Urine output

Contents

1. Introduction	. 1
2. Background	. 3
2.1 Definitions of acute kidney injury	. 3
2.2 The epidemiology of acute kidney injury	. 6
2.3 Standard of care for acute kidney injury	. 6
2.4 Acute kidney injury duration and acute kidney disease	. 7
2.5 Defining acute kidney injury in studies using routinely collected healthcare data	. 8
2.6 Literature review for the included studies	. 9
2.7 Knowledge gaps	25
3. Hypotheses and aims	27
4. Methods	29
4.1 Setting	29
4.2 Data sources	29
4.3 Study designs and populations	31
4.4 Exposures	33
4.5 Outcomes	33
4.6 Covariates	36
4.7 Statistical analysis	36
4.8 Ethical considerations	39
5. Results	43
5.1 Routine clinical care creatinine data in Denmark (Study I)	43
5.2 Kidney function before and after acute kidney injury (Study II)	45
5.3 Regional variation in incidence and prognosis of acute kidney injury (Study III)	46
5.4 Acute kidney injury duration and risks of chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease (Study IV)	48
6. Discussion	51
6.1 Main findings	51
6.2 Comparison with the existing literature	51
6.3 Methodological considerations	56
7. Conclusions	65
8. Future perspectives	57
9. Summary	59
10. Dansk resumé	71
11. References	73
12. Appendices	89

1. Introduction

Acute kidney injury (AKI) has been estimated to affect approximately 13 million individuals worldwide annually and is associated with increased morbidity and mortality.^{1,2} In the United States alone, the derived annual costs of AKI have been estimated to be in excess of 9 billion US dollars.³ Changes in demographics, including population aging and rise in conditions associated with AKI, are expected to cause an increase in the incidence and the related costs of AKI in the coming decades.³⁻⁶ Owing to the poor prognosis, high associated costs, and increasing incidence, AKI is considered a global health problem.⁷⁻¹⁰

Despite the evident clinical importance and substantial derived costs, research in AKI has been impeded by changing definitions and unavailability of laboratory-based information on kidney function. The collaborative development of consensus criteria for AKI and increasing availability of clinical care serum creatinine (sCr) data have been central in moving towards a better understanding of the condition.¹ Based on this, the current dissertation aims at examining the occurrence and prognosis of AKI in a population-based setting. This encompasses describing the availability of population-based creatinine data in Denmark (Study I), changes in kidney function associated with AKI (Study II), regional variation in AKI incidence and prognosis (Study III), and associations between AKI duration and chronic kidney disease (CKD) and cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Study IV).

The dissertation consists of 12 chapters. The following chapter provides the background for the dissertation, including a presentation of the current knowledge about AKI, a review of the literature pertaining to each of the four studies included in the dissertation, and current knowledge gaps. Chapters 3, 4, and 5 describe the hypotheses and aims, key methodological aspects, and the main findings of the included studies. In chapter 6, the main findings are considered in the context of the current literature and key methodological considerations are presented. Chapters 7 and 8 provide the overall conclusions and future perspectives. The final chapters include summaries in English and Danish, references, and appendices including the full versions of the research papers for each of the four studies.

2. Background

The first recordings of acutely impaired kidney function date back to ancient Greece and include an observation of capillary hemorrhage and destruction of kidney parenchyma due to external damage by Hippocrates.¹¹ In the time of modern medicine, Heberden provided the first clinical description of acutely impaired kidney function in "Commentaries on the history and cure of diseases" from 1802.¹² Here, he described a condition with complete suppression of urine production, which was generally deadly by the sixth or seventh day.¹² However, little focus was given to the condition until the publication of "Crush injuries with impairment of renal function" in 1941 by Bywaters and Beall, who reported on four patient cases observed during the bombing of London in World War II.¹³ This publication embarked a renewed interest in the field of acutely impaired kidney function leading to the introduction of the term acute renal failure (ARF) by Smith in 1951.¹⁴ Yet, studies performed before 2000 used a wide variety of ARF definitions impeding comparisons across studies.¹⁵ With the purpose of defining the first consensus-based definition for ARF, a large network of international experts in nephrology and intensive care medicine formed the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) workgroup in 2002.¹⁶ The ADQI workgroup published the Risk of renal dysfunction, Injury to the kidney, Failure of kidney function, Loss of kidney function, and End-stage kidney disease (RIFLE) definition for ARF in 2004.¹⁶ Here ARF was defined as: 1) an increase in sCr of >1.5 times baseline; 2) a >25% decrease in estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) from baseline; or 3) an urine output (UO) <0.5 ml/kg/h for six hours or longer. In addition, the RIFLE definition included three levels of kidney function impairment (Risk of renal dysfunction, Injury to the kidney, Failure of kidney function) based on changes in eGFR, sCr, and/or UO and two levels of clinical outcomes (Loss of kidney function, and

After the RIFLE definition was published, studies showed that changes in sCr below the threshold for ARF had prognostic importance.^{17,18} This led to a modification of the RIFLE definition by the Acute Kidney Injury Network (AKIN) in 2007.¹⁹ In comparison with the RIFLE definition, the modifications provided in the AKIN definition included that: 1) AKI could be defined by an absolute increase in sCr of \geq 0.3 mg/dl (\geq 26.5 µmol/l); 2) the eGFR criterion was removed and changes in sCr were required occur within 48 hours; 3) the levels of kidney function impairment (Risk of renal dysfunction, Injury to the kidney, Failure of kidney function) were replaced by stages 1-3 and the two levels of clinical outcomes (Loss of kidney function and End-stage kidney disease) were removed from the staging system; and 4) AKI accompanied by acute KRT was by definition stage 3 (Table 1).¹⁹

End-stage kidney disease) based on the duration of kidney function impairment (Table 1).

In 2012, the Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Acute Kidney Injury Work Group published the current consensus definition for AKI.¹ This definition integrated elements from both the RIFLE and AKIN definitions, as it had been established that both definitions missed patients with a similar prognosis as those identified.²⁰ While retaining the absolute increase in sCr of \geq 0.3 mg/dl within 48 hours from the AKIN definition, the KDIGO definition does not require the relative increase in sCr of \geq 1.5 times baseline to occur within 48 hours; instead, the increase should be known or presumed to have occurred within seven days (Table 1).

The RIFLE, AKIN, and KDIGO definitions share the conception of AKI as a broad clinical syndrome ranging from a mild change in markers of kidney function to an injury requiring kidney replacement therapy (KRT) and encompassing both primary kidney conditions and conditions outside the kidneys.¹ Thus, the AKI concept is intended to enable early identification of patients and allow for timely interventions. During the past decade, great efforts have been made to develop new biomarkers that support the identification of patients at high risk of AKI.^{21,22} With the recently announced update of the 2012 KDIGO guideline, it will be interesting to see if more of these will be recommended for use in clinical practice.²³

Classification ^a	RIFLE ¹⁶	AKIN ¹⁹	KDIGO ¹
Risk /	sCr increase of 1.5-1.9 times	sCr increase of 1.5-2.0 times	sCr increase of 1.5–1.9 times
stage 1	baseline ^b	baseline ^c	baseline ^d
	or	or	or
	GFR decrease of >25% from	sCr increase of ≥0.3 mg/dl	sCr increase of ≥0.3 mg/dl
	baseline	(≥26.5 µmol/l) within 48	(≥26.5 µmol/l) within 48
	or	hours	hours
		or	or
	UO <0.5 ml/kg/h ≥6 hours	UO <0.5 ml/kg/h for >6 hours	UO <0.5 ml/kg/h for 6-12
loiun/	of r increase of 2.0.2.0 times	cCr increase of > 2.0.2.0 times	nours
stage 2	baseline ^b	baseline ^c	baseline ^d
	or	or	or
	GFR decrease of >50% from		
	baseline		
	or		
	UO <0.5 ml/kg/h for ≥12	UO <0.5 ml/kg/h for >12	UO <0.5 ml/kg/h for ≥12
	hours	hours	hours
Failure /	sCr increase of ≥3.0 times	sCr increase of >3.0 times	sCr increase of ≥3.0 times
stage 3	baseline	baseline ^c	baseline ^a
	sCr \geq 4.0 mg/dl (\geq 354 µmol/l)	sCr \geq 4.0 mg/dl (\geq 354 µmol/l)	sCr \geq 4.0 mg/dl (\geq 354 µmol/l)
	with an acute increase of	With an acute increase of	when fulfilling another
	20.5 mg/dl (44 μm0i/l)	20.5 mg/dl (244 μmol/l)	
	GER decrease of >75% from	Initiation of KRT	Initiation of KRT
	baseline	or	or
	or		In patients <18 years.
			decrease in eGFR to <35
			ml/min/1.73 m ²
			or
	UO <0.3 ml/kg/h for ≥24	UO <0.3 ml/kg/h for ≥24	UO <0.3 ml/kg/h for ≥24
	hours or	hours <i>or</i>	hours <i>or</i>
	anuria for ≥12 hours	anuria for ≥12 hours	anuria for ≥12 hours
Loss	Need for KRT for >4 weeks	Not defined	Not defined
ESKD	Need for KRT for >3 months	Not defined	Not defined

Table 1. Classification of acute kidney injury

Adapted from KDIGO Clinical Practice Guideline for Acute Kidney Injury¹ and Gammelager²⁴.

 $^{\rm a}{\rm Stage}$ is based on the most severe of the sCr, eGFR, or UO criteria.

^bBaseline specification is not provided. A theoretical baseline can be estimated using the MDRD formula assuming a normal GFR of approximately 75–100 ml/min/1.73 m².

^cA sCr test within 48 hours.

^dThe baseline should reflect the sCr level before AKI. In patients without CKD this could be a test within a year if the change in sCr is known or presumed to have occurred within the prior seven days.

Abbreviations: AKIN, Acute Kidney Injury Network; CKD; chronic kidney disease; ESKD, End-stage kidney disease, GFR, glomerular filtration rate; KDIGO, Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcome; KRT, kidney replacement therapy; MDRD, Modification of Diet in Renal Disease; RIFLE, Risk of renal failure, Injury to the kidney, Failure of kidney function, Loss of kidney function, and End-stage kidney disease; sCr, serum creatinine; UO, urine output.

2.2 The epidemiology of acute kidney injury

AKI has a reported incidence of approximately 2,000-3,000 cases per million person-years in the general population and occurs in one out of five hospitalized patients.²⁵⁻²⁷ The incidence of AKI has increased in recent decades, which is likely to reflect an increase in predisposing conditions such as CVD, CKD, and diabetes, in addition to population aging and increased awareness of the condition.^{6,9,28-37}

Traditionally, AKI has been subdivided into prerenal, renal/intrinsic, and postrenal based on the location of the causing insult.³⁸ Prerenal causes of AKI include sepsis, hemorrhage, dehydration, and surgery, while renal causes include specific kidney diseases, e.g., vascular, tubular, glomerular, and interstitial diseases, and postrenal causes include obstruction of the urinary tract.³⁸ While this provides a framework for understanding the mechanisms underlying AKI, the clinical and prognostic utilization of the categorization has been questioned.³⁹⁻⁴¹ First, prerenal AKI may cause structural changes and thereby transition to renal AKI. Furthermore, differentiating between prerenal AKI and renal AKI caused by prerenal AKI has few implications for treatment.^{39,42} Therefore, it has been argued to supplement the characterization of AKI by including factors such as the specific cause, the clinical setting, the severity and duration of AKI, and baseline kidney function.^{42,43}

AKI is associated with an increased mortality and more than 20% of hospitalized patients with AKI die during the hospitalization.^{27,44,45} Common short-term complications of AKI include brain, heart, lung, and liver dysfunction.⁴⁶ Moreover, patients surviving the acute phase of AKI have increased risks of developing CKD⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹ and CVDs including hypertension,⁵⁰ ischemic heart disease,^{45,51,52} heart failure,⁵²⁻⁵⁴ and stroke.⁵² Even patients with recovery of eGFR after AKI have an increased risk of developing CKD and the risk of kidney failure with replacement therapy has been shown to remain elevated for up to 10 years after AKI.⁵⁵⁻⁶⁰ Factors associated with a worse prognosis include advanced age, higher AKI stage, low baseline eGFR, and comorbidities such as diabetes, hypertension, and heart failure.^{4,48,61} In addition, the duration of AKI may affect the prognosis, which is discussed further in section 2.6.4.

2.3 Standard of care for acute kidney injury

The standard of care for AKI includes prevention, early detection, treatment, and follow-up.^{1,62,63} Primary prevention would involve reducing the occurrence of predisposing conditions, including CVD, CKD, and diabetes, on a population level.⁶⁴ However, while the age-standardized prevalence of CVD and CKD may have plateaued, the crude prevalence of CKD, CVD, and diabetes continues to increase due to an aging population.^{28,35,36}

The increasing prevalence of predisposing conditions underlines the potential for secondary prevention by the identification of patients at risk and early detection of AKI.⁶⁴ Identification of patients at risk of AKI may be aided by prediction models and novel biomarkers.^{63,65,66} However, while such risk assessment tools have been proven to be able to identify patients at high risk and even reduce AKI incidence, most tools have been developed based on specific patient populations, e.g., patients undergoing cardiac surgery, and need to be validated in other settings.^{63,67-71}

Identification of AKI can be aided by electronic warning systems such as the National Health Service AKI warning system in England.⁷² The implementation of the automatic alert has been associated with increased detection of and recovery after AKI.⁷³ Furthermore, integration between electronic warning systems and AKI-directed treatment initiatives has been shown to be associated with a reduction in progression of AKI and mortality after AKI.⁷⁴

Apart from managing the underlying cause, treatment of AKI includes close monitoring, discontinuation of potentially nephrotoxic drugs, optimization of hemodynamic status, avoidance of hypoglycemia, KRT, and medical management of associated complications such as hyperkaliemia, acidosis, and fluid overload.^{62,63} These actions, often collectively referred to as AKI care bundles, have been reported to be associated with decreased mortality and are starting to be systematically implemented in high-risk settings such as cardiac surgery.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁷

Following the initial phase, tertiary prevention by clinical and laboratory follow-up tailored to the severity of AKI is recommended.¹ Nephrologist follow-up has been shown to improve survival among patients with severe AKI but is infrequently performed.^{78,79}

2.4 Acute kidney injury duration and acute kidney disease

The ADQI workgroup has proposed categories for the duration of AKI with the aim of providing a shared framework for studying the association between AKI duration and prognosis.⁸⁰ According to this classification, AKI is defined as rapid reversal AKI if the duration is <48 hours, as persistent AKI if the duration is two to seven days, and as acute kidney disease (AKD) if the duration is beyond seven days. Furthermore, recovery of kidney function should be present for ≥48 hours before one AKI episode can be differentiated from another AKI episode.⁸⁰ However, broadly agreed definitions for the transition from an acute to a subacute kidney condition are missing. The KDIGO workgroup has proposed AKD to cover both AKI and periods of <3 months with eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m², a decrease in eGFR of ≥35%, or an increase in sCr of >50%.^{1,81} In contrast, the ADQI definition of AKD does not include AKI but strictly covers conditions fulfilling the AKI definition for seven days or longer.⁸⁰

7

2.5 Defining acute kidney injury in studies using routinely collected healthcare data

A broad range of AKI definitions and implementations have been applied in studies using routinely collected healthcare data.⁸² AKI episodes during hospitalization can be recorded in medical databases according to the International Classification of Diseases 9th (ICD-9) or 10th edition (ICD-10). In research settings without access to sCr or OU data, this is the only way to identify AKI. The specificity of hospital-recorded AKI diagnoses has been reported to be 95%-98%; however, the sensitivity is low and AKI diagnoses may only capture one-third of AKI episodes identified by changes in sCr.⁸³⁻⁸⁶ In addition, the validity of diagnoses codes can be affected by variations in coding quality across healthcare settings, changes in diagnostic criteria and coding practices over time, and patient characteristics such as age.^{86,87}

When sCr and UO data are available, direct application of the KDIGO criteria is preferable as both measures are associated with risks of kidney failure and death.^{1,88} However, valid measures of hourly UO are rarely available outside the intensive care unit (ICU) and the UO criterion is therefore seldom applied in studies outside this setting.^{89,90} In contrast, sCr is often measured regularly in routine clinical care. Creatinine is a by-product of muscle metabolism with a production proportional to the total muscle mass.^{38,91} It is freely filtered in the renal glomerulus and secreted in the proximal tubules, which makes it an incomplete marker of glomerular filtration rate (GFR).⁹¹ Furthermore, changes in sCr may reflect changes in dietary protein intake or muscle mass, which are common during acute illness. However, as the level of sCr varies inversely with GFR, sCr is used as an endogenous marker of GFR with these limitations.^{43,92} In Denmark, creatinine is measured as plasma creatinine (pCr), which is equivalent to sCr.^{93,94}

Application of the KDIGO sCr criteria of a relative increase of ≥ 1.5 known to have occurred within the prior seven days, or an absolute increase of $\geq 26.5 \ \mu mol/l$ within 48 hours is intuitively straightforward when sCr tests within the specified periods are available. However, this is often only the case in situations with planned surgery or other planned medical procedures. For patients with a presumed acute increase in sCr, who did not have a sCr test in the past week for comparison, several definitions of baseline sCr have been suggested.⁹⁵⁻⁹⁷ Approaches for defining baseline sCr include using the most recent sCr test,⁹⁷⁻⁹⁹ the median sCr level,^{100,101} or the mean sCr level,¹⁰² within the past 8-365 days.⁹⁶ A recent study showed that while the absence of a baseline definition dramatically reduced the AKI population, the use of different baseline definitions yielded similar populations.¹⁰³ Furthermore, using the median sCr level based on the past year was recently recommended by a Delphi panel of researchers working with AKI.⁹⁰ Finally, a sCr test may not have been performed within the past year. In this situation, strategies to estimate the baseline sCr level include simple imputation,¹⁰⁴ multiple imputation,¹⁰⁴ or using the first or the last sCr test during

8

hospitalization.¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷ However, these methods all come with a non-negligible risk of misclassification and most studies exclude patients without an actual baseline test.^{90,97,104,108}

2.6 Literature review for the included studies

Four independent literature reviews were performed to examine the existing knowledge for each of the studies included in the dissertation. Specifically, searches were done to assess the current literature on population-based databases with creatinine data (Study I), the association between AKI and changes in kidney function (Study II), regional variation in incidence and prognosis of AKI (Study III), and the associations between AKI duration and CKD and CVD (Study IV).

The literature searches were performed using MEDLINE (PubMed) with a combination of Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms and free-text with the Boolean operators "AND"/"OR". Searches were restricted to studies written in English, Danish, Swedish, or Norwegian and were last updated in February 2023.

After searching the MEDLINE database, an initial screening of headlines and abstracts was performed and relevant articles were retrieved. Next, the eligibility of full-text articles was evaluated by considering data quality, choice of analyses, and risk of bias. Last, the reference lists of included articles were screened for additional relevant studies not identified by the literature search. For Study IV, we restricted to studies evaluating the associations between AKI duration and CKD and CVD using more than one category of AKI duration. The included studies are summarized in Tables 2-5 and the main findings are presented in synthesis below.

2.6.1 Population-based databases with creatinine data (Study I)

sCr data are increasingly used to study AKI.⁹⁰ Even so, only a few studies that described databases with population-based sCr data were identified in the literature search (Table 2).¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹² These comprised two Danish, one Swedish, and one Canadian study. The studies by Kampmann et al.¹⁰⁹ and Henriksen et al.¹¹⁰ covered pCr data in two geographical areas of Denmark. Kampmann et al.¹⁰⁹ described pCr data from a defined geographical area in the Region of Southern Denmark during 2007-2013. The database covered 857,854 adult residents of whom 669,929 had a pCr test, which was equivalent to a population coverage (i.e., the percentage of the population with a pCr test) of 78% in the study period. Similarly, Henriksen et al.¹¹⁰ examined pCr data from Funen and the surrounding islands in Denmark covering 693,843 residents during 2000-2015. They reported a population coverage of 66% in the study period.

Runesson et al.¹¹¹ examined sCr data in Stockholm County covering 1,706,529 adult residents during 2006-2011. Similar to the Danish studies, they found a population coverage of 66% during the six-year period with around one-third of individuals having an annual sCr test. Finally, the study by Garg et al.¹¹² included sCr data from both private and hospital-based laboratories in Eastern Ontario covering 1,090,000 adult residents from 1 September 1999 to 1 September 2000. The database included sCr data from both primary care and hospitals, but only tests from primary care were included in the analyses. Nonetheless, they reported a population coverage of 32% during a one-year period.

All studies reported a higher proportion of females among tested individuals than in the general population. Moreover, most studies found an increasing coverage with advancing age,¹¹⁰⁻¹¹² which in the two Danish studies was reflected by a higher median age of tested individuals than in the general population.^{109,110}

Table 2. Summary of the existing literature for Study I.

Study I: Population-based databases with creatinine data			
Author, journal, year	Design, setting, data sources, period	Study population, creatinine test setting	Results
Kampmann et al., ¹⁰⁹ Clinical Epidemiology, 2021	 Cohort study Denmark 17 of 22 municipalities in the Region of Southern Denmark Local laboratory databases and nationwide registries 2007-2013 	 Residents ≥18 years (n = 857,854) pCr tests from primary care and hospitals 	 7,996,882 pCr tests from 669,929 individuals during a seven-year period 78% of residents had a pCr test in the study period 54% of individuals in the pCr-tested cohort were females. The median age was 51 years 50% of individuals in the general population were females. The median age was 45 years
Henriksen et al., ¹¹⁰ Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology, 2019	 Cohort study Denmark Funen and surrounding islands The laboratory database of Odense University Hospital and nationwide registries 2000-2015 	 Residents (n = 693,843) pCr tests from primary care and hospitals 	 7,742,124 sCr tests from 460,365 individuals during a 16-year period 66% of residents had a pCr test in the study period The annual proportion of individuals with a pCr test increased from 20% in 2000 to 42% in 2015 53% of individuals in the pCr-tested cohort were females. The median age at the end of the study period was 53 years (IQR, 32-70) 50% of individuals in the general population were females. The median age was 43 years (IQR, 23-65) Coverage increased with advancing age
Runesson et al., ¹¹¹ Clinical Kidney Journal, 2016	 Cohort study Sweden Stockholm County Local laboratory databases and national registries 2006-2011 	 Residents ≥18 years (n = 1,706,259) sCr tests from primary care and hospitals 	 1,118,507 individuals had a sCr test during a six-year period 66% of residents had a pCr test in the study period and around one-third of the population was tested annually 54% of individuals in the sCr-tested cohort were females Coverage increased with advancing age
Garg et al., ¹¹² Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2005	 Cohort study Canada Eastern Ontario Private and hospital-based laboratory databases, regional medical databases, and Canadian census data 1999-2000 	 Residents ≥18 years (n = 1,090,000) sCr tests from primary care and hospitals (only tests from primary care were described) AND (("resident") CD ("resident") 	 - 566,870 primary care sCr tests from 346,513 individuals during a one-year period - 32% of residents had a pCr test during the year of study - 57% of individuals in the sCr-tested cohort were females. The median age was 54 years (IQR, 41-69) - Coverage increased with advancing age
NEDLINE search query: ("creatini" [tiab]) AND ("laborator" [tiab]) AND (("register" [tiab]) OK ("registry" [tiab]) OK ("databas" [tiab])) Hits: 684			

Last updated: 14 February 2023

Abbreviations: IQR, interquartile range; pCr, plasma creatinine, sCr, serum creatinine.

2.6.2 Kidney function before and after acute kidney injury (Study II)

AKI is consistently associated with an increased risk of incident CKD and an increased risk of kidney failure with replacement therapy among individuals with prevalent CKD.^{48,58,113,114} Conceptually, AKI could be linked with CKD and kidney failure with replacement therapy through an unrecovered drop in eGFR level, an accelerated rate of eGFR decline (i.e., a steeper eGFR slope), or a combination of both (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Conceptual model of the association between AKI and changes in eGFR. Black, normal age-related decline in eGFR. Red, AKI. Green, recovery of eGFR to the level before AKI followed by an accelerated rate of eGFR decline. Orange, non-recovery of eGFR level after AKI followed by the same rate of eGFR decline as before AKI. Purple, non-recovery of eGFR level after AKI followed by an accelerated rate of eGFR decline. Abbreviations: AKI, acute kidney injury; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate.

Studies describing the association between AKI and changes in kidney function are presented in Table 3.¹¹⁵⁻¹²¹ Most studies were conducted in specific patient populations, including patients with CKD,¹¹⁷⁻¹¹⁹ patients undergoing coronary angiography,¹²⁰ and patients in intensive care.¹¹⁵ Additionally, most studies were limited by small patient populations (<1000 patients with AKI).¹¹⁵⁻¹²⁰ Only one study included a general unselected cohort; however, this study identified AKI using diagnosis codes and only reported relative changes in eGFR level.¹²¹

Various approaches were applied to define changes in eGFR in relation to AKI. While most studies reported changes in both eGFR level and eGFR slope,^{115-117,119,120} others reported only one or the other.^{118,121} Moreover, the term "change in eGFR level" was used to describe both the difference in eGFR level at the time of AKI (i.e., derived from a statistical model extrapolating eGFR levels to the time of AKI using eGFR trajectories before and after AKI),¹¹⁷ and the difference in eGFR levels from before or at admission and at or after discharge.^{115,119-121} The magnitude and direction of the reported changes in eGFR from before to after AKI varied substantially. In general, studies reported a drop in eGFR level following AKI.^{115,119-121} However, a stable or higher eGFR level after AKI was also reported.^{117,121} Studies examining changes in the rate of eGFR decline generally reported a higher rate of eGFR decline after AKI.^{117,118,120} However, as for changes in eGFR level, some studies reported similar rates of eGFR decline before and after AKI¹²¹ or even a lower rate of eGFR decline after AKI.¹¹⁹

Table 3. Summary of the existing literature for Study II.

Study II: Kidney function before and after acute kidney injury			
Author, journal, year	Design, setting, data sources, period	Study population, exposure, outcome, analysis	Results
Haines et al., ¹¹⁵ Scientific Reports, 2021	 Cohort study UK Single center Electronic medical records, routinely collected laboratory results, and national registries 2004-2008 	 ICU patients with eGFR data during follow-up (n = 1,301) Exposure: AKI (n = 659) Outcome: eGFR level and short- term (0-6 months) and long- term (0.5-7 years) rates of eGFR decline Analysis: Linear mixed model and joint model 	 For stage 1 AKI, the median eGFR level was 73 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 50-82) before admission and 78 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 56-107) at discharge For stage 2-3 AKI, the median eGFR level was 73 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 51-87) before admission and 61 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 37-96) at discharge The short-term rate of eGFR decline was -12.3% (95% CI, -15.1 to -9.4 in patients with stage 1 AKI and -4.3% (95% CI, -7.0 to -1.4) in patients with stage 2-3 AKI The long-term annual rate of eGFR decline was -1.5% (95% CI, -2.6 to -0.3) in patients with stage 1 AKI and -1.6% (95% CI, -2.7 to -0.5) in patients with stage 2-3 AKI
Nugent et al., ¹¹⁶ JAMA Network Open, 2021	 Cohort study USA Five hospitals in Connecticut and Rhode Island Electronic medical records and routinely collected laboratory results 2020 	 AKI patients tested for SARS-CoV-2 (n = 1,612) Exposure: SARS-CoV-2 (n_{SARS-CoV-2 positive} = 182, n_{SARS-CoV-2 negative} = 1,430) Outcome: eGFR level and rate of eGFR decline Analysis: Linear mixed model and joint model 	 Patients with SARS-CoV-2–associated AKI had a median eGFR level of 65.8 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 46.3-85.9) at admission and 68.5 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 48.2-93.8) at discharge. The mean rate of eGFR decline after AKI was -16.7 ml/min/1.73 m²/year (95% Cl, -43.4 to 10.0) Patients with AKI not associated with SARS-CoV-2 had a median eGFR level of 63.9 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 43.3-86.5) at admission and 58.4 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 37.6-84.8) at discharge. The mean rate of eGFR decline after AKI was -2.7 ml/min/1.73 m²/year (95% Cl, -26.8 to 21.4)
Hsu et al., ¹¹⁷ Clinical Kidney Journal, 2019	 Cohort study USA Kaiser Permanente Northern California Research database including routinely and prospectively collected laboratory results 2003-2008 	 CKD patients (n = 444) Exposure: AKI (n = 73) Outcome: eGFR level and rate of eGFR decline Analysis: Linear mixed model 	 The rate of eGFR decline before AKI was -0.31 ml/min/1.73 m²/year and the rate of eGFR decline after AKI was -0.98 ml/min/1.73 m²/year AKI increased the rate of eGFR decline by -0.67 ml/min/1.73 m²/year (95% CI, -0.88 to -0.46) When using both clinical and research sCr tests, AKI was associated with an increase in mean outpatient eGFR level of 2.01 ml/min/1.73 m² (95% CI, 1.17-2.84) When using only research sCr tests, AKI was associated with a drop in mean outpatient eGFR level of -0.35 ml/min/1.73 m² (95% CI, -2.10 to 1.40)
Asar et al., ¹¹⁸ Biometrical Journal, 2016	 Cohort study UK Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust Electronic medical records and routinely collected laboratory results 2000-2013 	 CKD patients (n = 2,289) Exposure: AKI (n = 713) Outcomes: Rate of eGFR decline Analysis: Linear mixed model 	 Before AKI, the annual decline in eGFR was 3.6% After AKI, the annual decline in eGFR increased to 9.0% and 8.0% for AKI stage 1 and stage 2-3, respectively

D'hoore et al., ¹¹⁹ Journal of Nephrology, 2015	 Cohort study Belgium Ghent University Hospital Electronic medical records and routinely collected laboratory results 2001-2013 	 CKD patients (n = 311) Exposure: AKI (n = 94) Outcomes: eGFR level and rate of eGFR decline Analysis: Absolute and percentage changes in eGFR 	 The eGFR level decreased with 11 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 0-22) from before to after AKI The median rate of decline in eGFR before AKI was 5 ml/min/1.73 m²/2.5 years (IQR, 0-13), and the median rate of decline in eGFR after AKI was 1 ml/min/1.73 m²/2.5 years (IQR, 2-6)
James et al., ¹²⁰ Kidney International, 2010	 Cohort study Canada Alberta providence Research database including routinely collected laboratory results 2004-2006 	 Patients undergoing coronary angiography with an eGFR <90 ml/min/1.73 m² (n = 10,418) Exposure: AKI (n = 853) Outcomes: Risk of decline in eGFR level and rate of eGFR decline Analysis: Linear mixed model 	 AKI was associated with a higher risk of a sustained decline in eGFR level three months after coronary angiography (no-AKI 5.6%; stage 1 AKI 28.2%; stage 2-3 AKI 59.1%) The rate of eGFR decline was similar before and after coronary angiography for patients without AKI or with stage 1 AKI. Patients with stage 2-3 AKI had an increase in the rate of eGFR decline of 1.8 ml/min/1.73 m²/year (95% CI, 0.6-3.0) after AKI
Amdur et al., ¹²¹ Kidney International, 2009	 Cohort study USA Department of Veterans Affairs Veterans Affairs Decision Support System database 1999-2005 	 ARF patients without CKD (n = 5,058) and with CKD (n = 44,377) Exposure: Calendar time relative to the time of AKI Outcome: eGFR level Analysis: Estimation and comparison of mean eGFR for specified periods relative to the time of AKI (31-90, 91-365, and >365 days) 	 In patients without CKD, ARF was associated with a relative drop in eGFR level of ~10% In patients with CKD, ARF was not associated with changes in eGFR level

MEDLINE search query: (("Acute Kidney Injury"[Mesh]) OR ("Acute Kidney Injury"[tiab])) AND (("change in kidney function"[tiab]) OR ("decline in kidney function"[tiab]) OR ("kidney function decline"[tiab]) OR ("change in eGFR"[tiab]) OR ("decline in eGFR"[tiab]) OR ("eGFR decline"[tiab])) Hits: 244

Last updated: 14 February 2023

Abbreviations: AKI, acute kidney injury; ARF, acute renal failure; CI, confidence interval; CKD, chronic kidney disease; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; ICU, intensive care unit; IQR, interquartile range; SARS-CoV-2, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; sCr, serum creatinine.

2.6.3 Regional variation in incidence and prognosis of acute kidney injury (Study III)

Reported incidence rates of AKI vary considerably across countries.^{27,122} However, only a few studies have examined domestic variation in AKI incidence (Table 4).¹²³⁻¹²⁹ These studies cover countries in Asia, North America, South America, and Europe. Two studies from China used data from a nationwide cross-sectional survey and found only discrete regional variation in rates of AKI overall and community-acquired AKI among hospitalized patients, respectively.^{126,128} In contrast, studies on KRT-requiring AKI from the USA¹²⁹ and the UK¹²⁷ reported substantial variation in incidences across geographical regions. Likewise, substantial regional variation in rates of AKI defined by diagnosis codes was reported in a study from Peru.¹²³ Of note, two recent UK studies showed conflicting results as one found substantial variation in AKI incidence rates across six counties of Ireland¹²⁴ while the other reported similar rates across three UK regions.¹²⁵

As for the incidence of AKI, substantial country-to-country variation in CKD and mortality after AKI has been reported.²⁷ Furthermore, studies report domestic variation in mortality after AKI.^{123,126-129} The aforementioned study from Peru reported regional age-standardized AKI-attributed mortality rates ranging from 0.4 to 10.1 per 100,000 people in the general population.¹²³ Moreover, a study from China reported an almost twofold difference in hospital mortality among AKI patients.¹²⁶ Although less prominent, studies from the UK and the USA have also reported variation in mortality after AKI.^{127,129}

While previous studies provide insights into regional variation in AKI incidence and prognosis, most had methodological limitations. Studies based on diagnosis codes of AKI,¹²³ which are known to have a low sensitivity,⁸³⁻⁸⁶ are at risk of bias due to regional differences in registration practices. Similarly, variation in regional treatment practices and availability of healthcare services could cause bias in studies restricting to patients with prior sCr tests,¹²⁴ hospitalized patients,^{126,128} or KRT-requiring AKI.^{127,129}

Study III: Regional variation in incidence and prognosis of acute kidney injury			
Author, journal, year	Design, setting, data sources, period	Study population, AKI definition, exposure, outcome	Results
Herrera-Añazco et al., ¹²³ Brazilian Journal of Nephrology, 2020	 Ecological study Peru National records provided by the Ministry of Health of Peru and census statics 2005-2016 	 Combination of patients with and without health insurance (~60% of the Peruvian population) AKI defined by ICD-10 codes Exposure: Region Outcome: AKI and AKI-attributed mortality Analysis: Standardization 	 Age-standardized AKI rates across regions in 2011-2016 ranged from 4.3 to 28.0 per 100,000 person-years Age-standardized AKI attributed mortality rates in 2011- 2016 ranged from 0.4 to 10.1 per 100,000 person-years
Stack et al., ¹²⁴ Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, 2018	 Cohort study Ireland The Northwest and Midwest regions National Kidney Disease Surveillance System 2005-2014 	 Patients with a recorded sCr test (n = 451,646) AKI defined by sCr Exposure: Region Outcome: AKI Analysis: Standardization, logistic regression 	 Crude AKI incidence rates across counties in 2014 ranged from 7.3 to 18.2 per 100 person-years Differences in AKI incidence rates were not explained by differences in age, sex, baseline eGFR, location, laboratory measures of illness, or calendar year
Sawhney et al., ¹²⁵ BMJ Open, 2018	 Cohort study UK Grampian, Swansea, and Salford regions EHR data 2003, 2007, 2012 	 Residents (n = 2,387,525) AKI defined by sCr Exposure: Region Outcome: AKI Analysis: Standardization 	 Crude AKI incidence rates across regions ranged from 12.4 to 15.1 per 1,000 person-years Age-and-sex-standardized AKI rates across regions ranged from 14.2 to 15.1 per 1,000 person-years
Wang et al., ¹²⁶ American Journal of Kidney Diseases, 2017	 Cross-sectional China 22 of 31 provinces (82% of the total population) Laboratory data, medical records 2013 	 Hospitalized patients (n = 2,223,230) AKI defined by sCr Exposure: Province, tertile of northern latitude Outcome: Community-acquired AKI among hospitalized patients and mortality among patients with community-acquired AKI Analysis: Logistic regression 	 The proportion of patients with community-acquired AKI varied from 0.95% to 1.13% across tertiles of northern latitude Substantial differences in causes of AKI were found across tertiles of northern latitude In-hospital mortality among patients with AKI ranged from 6.7% to 11.2% across tertiles of northern latitude

Table 4. Summary of the existing literature for Study III.

Kolhe et al., ¹²⁷ PLOS ONE, 2016	 Cohort study UK Nine regions in England Hospital Episode Statistics from the National Health Service and census statics from the Office of National Statistic 2000-2015 	 Hospitalized patients (n = 203,758,879) KRT-requiring AKI identified by combining ICD-10 codes for ARF with procedure codes for dialysis Exposure: Region Outcome: KRT-requiring AKI among hospitalized patients and mortality among patients with KRT-requiring AKI Analysis: Logistic regression 	 Rates of KRT-requiring AKI across regions ranged from 157.8 to 119.5 per 1,000,000 people in 2014-2015 Mortality among patients with KRT-requiring AKI ranged from 23.7% to 37.8% across regions in 2000–2001 (estimates from 2014-2015 were not reported) Differences in mortality persisted after adjusting for gender, age group, period of admission, AKI in diagnoses codes, admission method, CCI score, and ethnicity
Yang et al., ¹²⁸ Lancet, 2015	 Cross-sectional China 22 of 31 provinces (82% of the total population) Laboratory data, medical records 2013 	 Hospitalized patients (n = 2,223,230) Patients were screened for AKI based on changes in sCr. The diagnosis of AKI was confirmed using medical records Exposure: Province Outcome: AKI among hospitalized patients and in-hospital mortality among patients with AKI 	 AKI occurred in 0.8-1.2% of hospitalized patients across regions The highest incidence of AKI was found in the Southwest Region and the lowest in the North Region In-hospital mortality among patients with AKI across regions ranged from 10.9% to 14.3%
Hsu et al., ¹²⁹ Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2013	 Cohort study USA Four US census-designated regions The Nationwide Inpatient Sample and the US Census Bureau 2007-2009 	 Hospitalized patients (n = 448,755) KRT-requiring AKI identified by combining ICD-10 codes for ARF with procedure codes for dialysis Exposure: Region Outcomes: KRT-requiring AKI among hospitalized patients and in-hospital mortality among patients with KRT-requiring AKI Analysis: Poisson regression 	 Crude incidence rates of KRT-requiring AKI across regions ranged from 459 to 524 cases per 1,000,000 person-years Regional differences persisted after adjustment for differences in sex and age In-hospital mortality associated with KRT-requiring AKI ranged from 19.4% to 25.9%

MEDLINE search query: ("Acute Kidney Injury"[Mesh] OR "Acute Kidney Injury"[tiab]) AND ("Inciden*"[tiab] OR "Incidence"[Mesh] OR "Prevalence"[Mesh] OR "Prevalen*"[tiab]) AND (("geogra*"[tiab]) OR ("regio*"[tiab]))

Hits: 352

Last updated: 14 February 2023

Abbreviations: AKI, acute kidney injury; ARF, acute renal failure; CCI, Charlson Comorbidity Index; CKD, chronic kidney disease; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; ICD, International Classification of Disease; KDIGO, Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes; KRT, kidney replacement therapy; sCr, serum creatinine.

2.6.4 Acute kidney injury duration and risks of chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease (Study IV)

AKI has consistently been associated with increased risks of CKD,^{48,49,55,130} CVD,^{45,50-53,130,131} and death.^{45,132,133} Furthermore, the duration of AKI has associated with mortality.¹³⁴⁻¹³⁶ Similarly, the associations between AKI duration and CKD and CVD have been studied^{54,114,115,137-149} (Table 5) and reviewed.^{52,134,135}

Studies examining the association between AKI duration and CKD generally point towards higher risks of CKD with increasing duration of AKI.^{114,115,137,138,140-146,148} Similarly, two systematic reviews reported higher risks of CKD with increasing AKI duration, although the reviews only included two studies each and were limited by varying definitions of AKI duration.^{134,135} The association between AKI duration and CKD is most apparent in studies comparing non-recovery with recovery beyond the first days of AKI, e.g., at discharge or 90 days after AKI onset.^{114,115,146,148} When examining the importance of AKI duration in the phase immediately following AKI onset, findings indicate an increased risk of CKD if AKI persists for more than two to three days.^{137,140,142,144,145} Nonetheless, results lack consistency and other studies did not find an association between AKI duration and CKD.^{139,149} Importantly, no studies have examined the impact of AKI duration on the long-term risk of CKD in a population-based setting using the ADQI consensus definition of AKI duration.⁸⁰

Studies examining the association between AKI duration and CVD are few and have shown inconsistent results.^{54,139,147,148} AKI duration has been associated with rates of heart failure, but results vary and lack precision.^{54,139,147,148} This corresponds to findings pertaining to other cardiovascular outcomes, such as stroke and myocardial infarction.^{147,148} The disparity of findings is reflected by two systematic reviews, which assessed the association between AKI duration and heart failure.^{52,134} The reviews arrived at divergent conclusions as one reported a higher risk of heart failure with increasing AKI duration, while the other did not.^{52,134}

Collectively, the studies examining the association between AKI duration and CVD or CKD used narrowly defined study populations, ^{54,115,137,139,140,142-144,146-149} small cohorts (<1000 AKI cases), ^{54,115,137,139,140,142-144,149} and non-consensus definitions of AKI or AKI duration. ^{54,115,140-143,145,146,148,149} In addition, most studies only considered outcomes within a few years of follow-up.^{137,138,142-147}

19

Table 5. Summary	v of the existing	literature fo	or Study	VIV.
Tuble 5. Summu	y of the chisting	incertation e it	n Staa	

Study IV: Acute kidney injury duration and risks of chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease			
Author, journal, year	Design, setting, data sources, period	Study population, exposure, outcome, analysis	Results
Ozrazgat- Baslanti et al., ¹³⁷ Annals of Surgery, 2022	 Cohort study USA UF Health Shands Hospital, Florida 2015-2017 	 Critically ill surgical sepsis patients (n = 239) Exposure: AKI duration defined as rapidly reversed (<48 hrs.) and persistent (≥48 hrs.) with the latter subdivided according to recovery status at discharge Outcome: MAKE defined as a composite of death, dependency on KRT, or decrease in eGFR to <60 ml/min/1.72 m² Analysis: Unadjusted proportions 	- MAKE at 1 year after AKI occurred in 29% of patients with rapidly reversed AKI, 43% of patients with persistent AKI with recovery at discharge, and 55% of patients with persistent AKI without recovery at discharge
Wang et al., ¹³⁸ BMC Medicine, 2022	 Cohort study UK Regions of Tayside and Fife Health Informatics Centre at the University of Dundee 2010-2018 	 Adult residents with AKI and recovery within 90 days (n = 56,906) Exposure: Recovery defined as early or delayed based on status at day seven after AKI onset Outcome: CKD Analysis: Cox proportional hazards regression 	- The 1-year HR for CKD was 2.21 (95% CI, 1.91-2.57) for delayed recovery compared with early recovery
Haines et al., ¹¹⁵ Scientific Reports, 2021	 Cohort study UK Single center Electronic medical records, routinely collected laboratory results, and national registries 2004-2008 	 ICU patients with AKI (n = 1,509) Exposure: Recovery status at discharge Outcome: Composite of chronic dialysis and death Analysis: Cox proportional hazards regression 	 Among all AKI patients, non-recovery was associated with a HR of 1.30 (95% CI, 1.06-1.60) for death or chronic dialysis when compared with recovery Among AKI patients with available eGFR data during follow-up, non-recovery was associated with a HR of 1.11 (95% CI 0.76–1.61) for death or chronic dialysis when compared with recovery
Ikizler et al., ¹³⁹ Kidney International, 2020	 Cohort study USA and Canada Four North American clinical centers 2009-2018 	 AKI patients (n = 769) and matched non-AKI patients (n = 769) Exposure: AKI and AKI duration (≤1, 2-3, 4-6, ≥7 days) Outcome: CKD, CKD progression, heart failure Analysis: Fine-Gray subdistribution hazards regression 	 Mean follow-up was 4.5 years AKI was associated with higher rates of CKD, CKD progression, and heart failure than no AKI No clear association between AKI duration and rates of CKD and CKD progression For heart failure there was a trend of higher rates with increasing duration of AKI although results lacked precision

Bhatraju2020	- Cohort study	 AKI patients (n = 769) and matched non-AKI 	- Mean follow-up was 4.7 years
et al., ¹⁴⁰	- USA and Canada	patients (<i>n</i> = 769)	- Among all AKI patients, 475 (62%) had resolving AKI and 294 (38%) had
JAMA	- Four North American	- Exposure: AKI and AKI duration (defined as	non-resolving AKI
Network	clinical centers	resolving if ≤3 days and otherwise defined as	- Non-resolving AKI was associated with a HR of 1.51 (95% CI, 1.22-1.88) for
Open,	- 2009-2018	non-resolving)	MAKE compared with resolving AKI. The association was mainly due to
2020		 Outcome: MAKE defined as incident or 	increased rates of CKD [HR 2.40 (95% CI, 1.65-3.49)]
		progressive CKD, long-term dialysis, or all-	
		cause death	
		 Analysis: Cox proportional hazards regression 	
Siew et al., ¹⁴¹	- Cohort study	 Hospitalized patients with stage 2-3 AKI and 	- Median follow-up was 3.5 years
American	- USA	recovery within 90 days ($n = 47,903$)	- 29,316 (61%) recovered by 1-4 days, 10,360 (22%) by 5-10 days, 4,520 (9%)
Journal of	- Department of Veterans	- Exposure: Time to recovery divided into four	by 11-30 days, and 3,707 (8%) by 31-90 days
Kidney	Affairs	intervals: 1-4, 5-10, 11-30, and 31-90 days	- Compared with patients with recovery within 1-4 days, HRs for the
Diseases,	- 2002-2014	- Outcome: Composite of a ≥40% sustained	composite outcome were 1.33 (95% Cl, 1.24-1.43), 1.41 (95% Cl, 1.28-
2020		decline in eGFR or kidney failure	1.54), and 1.58 (95% Cl, 1.43-1.75) for patients with recovery during the 5-
- - - - - 1 42		- Analysis: Cox proportional hazards regression	10, 11-30, or 31-90 day periods, respectively
Bravi et al., ¹⁴²	- Cohort study	- Partial nephrectomy patients ($n = 1,977$)	- Compared with no AKI, the probability of $\geq 90\%$ recovery of baseline eGFR
European	- USA	(388 patients with AKI)	within 1 year after surgery was 0.40, 0.30, and 0.08 for an AKI duration of
Urology,	- Memorial Sloan Kettering	- Exposure: AKI and AKI duration $(1, 2-3, \ge 4)$	1, 2-3, and \geq 4 days, respectively.
2019	Cancer Center, New York	days)	
	- 1989-2018	- Outcome: Recovery to 290% of baseline eGFR	
Nizoto ot	Cobort study	- Analysis: Unspecified regression models	216 (0.00) of AKIs ware transient and $42 (160)$ were persistent
		- Abdominal surgery patients $(7 = 3,751)$	- 210 (64%) Of AKIS were transient and 42 (10%) were persistent
di.,	- Japan Kyota University Hespital	(258 patients with AKI) Exposure: AKI duration defined as transient	- Compared with patients without AKI, the ORS of CKD progression at 1 year
Critical Caro		 Exposure. And unration defined as transient (<7 days) and possistent (>7 days) 	alter surgery were 2.01 (95% CI, 1.54–2.95) for transient AKI and 0.20 (95% $CI = 2.00-11.42$) for participant AKI
2010	- 2008-2013	(S) days) and persistent (>7 days)	CI, 5.00-11.45) IOI persistent AKI
2019		- Analysis: Cox proportional bazards regression	
Palomha et	- Cohort study	- Elective cardiac surgery patients without CKD	- ΔKI duration >3 days was associated with an OR of 13 /8 (95% CI / 15-//3 7)
al ¹⁴⁴	- Brazil	(n = 215) (43 patients with AKI)	for CKD within 1 year after surgery compared with no AKI
lournal of	- The Heart Institute.	- Exposure: Duration of AKI in days	
Nephrology.	University of São Paulo	- Outcome: CKD stage ≥3	
2017	- 2003-5, 2006-7	- Analysis: Multiple logistic regression	

Heung et al., ¹⁴⁵ American Journal of Kidney Diseases, 2016	 Cohort study USA Department of Veterans Affairs 2011 	 Hospitalized patients with a baseline eGFR >60 ml/min/1.72m² (n = 104,764) (17,049 patients with AKI) Exposure: AKI duration defined as fast (≤2 days), intermediate (3-10 days), slow or no recovery (>10 days), and unknown (no sCr test within 10 days following AKI onset) Outcome: CKD stage ≥3 Analysis: Modified Poisson regression 	 For stage 1 AKI, the adjusted 1-year RRs for CKD were 1.43 (95% CI, 1.39-1.48), 2.00 (95% CI, 1.88-2.12), 2.65 (95% CI, 2.51-2.80), and 1.48 (95% CI, 1.14-1.64) for fast, intermediate, slow or no recovery, and unknown recovery, respectively, when compared with patients without AKI Similar patterns were observed for stage 2 and stage 3 AKI
Pannu et al., ¹⁴⁶ Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2013	 Cohort study Canada Alberta Health and Wellness, the Northern and Southern Alberta Renal Programs, and the provincial laboratories of Alberta 2002-2007 	 Hospitalized AKI patients (n = 3,231) Exposure: AKI duration >/≤90 days Outcomes: Adverse renal outcome (sustained doubling of sCr or kidney failure) Analysis: Cox proportional hazards regression 	 Median follow-up was 2.8 years 2247 (65.5%) had an AKI duration ≤90 days AKI duration o>90 days was associated with a HR of 4.13 (95% CI, 3.38- 5.04) for adverse renal outcomes when compared with AKI duration ≤90 days
Gammelager et al., ¹⁴⁷ Critical Care, 2014	 Cohort study Denmark The North and Central Denmark regions Population-based medical databases 2005-2010 	 ICU patients (n = 21,556) (4,792 patients with AKI) Exposure: AKI and recovery status at the time of discharge Outcomes: Heart failure, myocardial infarction, and stroke Analysis: Cox proportional hazards regression 	 3,888 (81%) of AKI patients recovered kidney function by the time of discharge The HRs for heart failure were 1.26 (95% Cl, 1.00-1.60) for stage 1 AKI with recovery and 1.81 (95% Cl, 1.07-3.07) for stage 1 AKI without recovery when compared with patients without AKI. Results were similar for stage 2-3 AKI The HRs for myocardial infarction were 1.05 (95% Cl, 0.72-1.55) for stage 1 AKI with recovery and 0.79 (95% Cl, 0.25-2.51) for stage 1 AKI without recovery when compared with patients without AKI. For stage 2-3 AKI + Rs were 1.31 (95% Cl, 0.83-2.07) for AKI with recovery and 1.97 (95% Cl, 1.17-3.32) for AKI without recovery when compared with patients without AKI AKI with or without recovery was not associated with higher rates of stroke when compared with patients without AKI
Wu et al., ¹¹⁴ Kidney International, 2011	 Cohort study Taiwan National Taiwan University Hospital Study Group on Acute Renal Failure 2002-2008 	 Patients admitted to an ICU after major surgery (n = 9,233) Exposure: AKI and recovery status at discharge Outcome: Long-term dialysis Analysis: Cox proportional hazards regression 	 Median follow-up was 4.6 years Compared with non-CKD patients without AKI, the HRs for long-term dialysis were: 212.7 (95% CI, 105.5-428.8) for CKD patients without recovery 74.1 (95% CI, 38.8-141.3) for CKD patients with recovery 61.0 (95% CI, 24.1-154.0) for non-CKD patients without recovery 42.6 (95% CI, 20.8-87.3) for CKD patients without AKI 4.5 (95% CI, 2.4-8.4) for non-CKD patients with recovery

Choi et al., ¹⁴⁸	- Cohort study	 Hospitalized HIV-infected patients (n = 	- Mean follow-up was 5.7 years
Kidney	- USA	17,325) (3,060 patients had AKI)	- Compared with no AKI:
International,	 Department of Veterans 	 Exposure: AKI and recovery at discharge 	- The HRs for heart failure were:
2010	Affairs	 Outcomes: Heart failure, CVD (including 	 - 1.00 (95% CI, 0.63-1.59) for stage 1 AKI with recovery
	- 1986-2006	coronary, cerebrovascular, or peripheral	- 1.45 (95% CI, 0.90-2.34) for stage 1 AKI without recovery
		arterial disease), and kidney failure with	 - 1.90 (95% Cl, 0.76-4.71) for stage 2-3 AKI with recovery
		replacement therapy	 - 2.38 (95% Cl, 0.88-6.42) for stage 2-3 AKI without recovery
		- Analysis: Cox proportional hazards regression	- The HRs for CVD were:
			- 1.01 (95% Cl, 0.76-1.35) for stage 1 AKI with recovery
			- 0.93 (95% Cl, 0.64-1.34) for stage 1 AKI without recovery
			- 1.22 (95% CI, 0.62-2.41) for stage 2-3 AKI with recovery
			- 1.67 (95% Cl, 0.65-4.29) for stage 2-3 AKI without recovery
			 The HRs for kidney failure with replacement therapy were:
			- 0.89 (95% CI, 0.58-1.35) for stage 1 AKI with recovery
			- 2.18 (95% Cl, 1.52-3.13) for stage 1 AKI without recovery
			 - 2.51 (95% Cl, 1.34-4.70) for stage 2-3 AKI with recovery
			- 10.62 (95% CI, 4.99-22.60) for stage 2-3 AKI without recovery
van Kuijk et	- Cohort study	- Patients undergoing elective major vascular	- Median follow-up was 5 years
al., ¹⁴⁹	- Netherlands	surgery (<i>n</i> = 1,308)	- Temporary decline was associated with a RR of 3.4 (95% Cl, 2.7-4.1) and
Clinical	 Department of Vascular 	 Exposure: Changes in eGFR on day 1-3 after 	persistent decline with a RR of 3.6 (95% CI, 2.8-4.4) for CKD when
Journal of the	Surgery, Erasmus Medical	surgery defined as no change (within 10% of	compared with no change
American	Center	baseline), temporary decline (a decline >10%	
Society of	- 1990-2008	followed by complete recovery to within 10%	
Nephrology,		by day 3), and persistent decline (a decline	
2010		>10 % was present on day 3)	
		- Outcome: CKD	
		- Analysis: multivariate logistic regression	

Goldberg et	- Cohort study	- Patients with myocardial infarction	- Median follow-up was 3 years		
al., ⁵⁴	- Israel	(<i>n</i> = 1,957)	 Mild and moderate/severe AKI occurred in 156(8%) and 138(7%) of 		
Kidney	- Rambam Medical Center,	- Exposure: AKI severity and recovery status at	patients, respectively		
International,	Haifa	discharge (transient/persistent)	- Mild AKI was transient in 61 (39%) and moderate/severe AKI was transient		
2009	- 2000-2007	 Outcome: Heart failure and recurrent 	in 60 (44%) patients		
		myocardial infarction	- When compared with patients without AKI:		
		 Analysis: Cox proportional hazard model 	- The HRs of heart failure were:		
			- 1.5 (95% Cl, 0.8-2.8) for transient, mild AKI		
			- 1.7 (95% CI, 1.1-2.8) for persistent, mild AKI		
			 - 1.7 (95% CI, 1.1-2.9) for transient, moderate/severe AKI 		
			 - 2.0 (95% CI, 1.2-3.3) for persistent, moderate/severe AKI 		
			- The HRs of recurrent infarction were:		
			- 0.6 (95% Cl, 0.2-1.8) for transient, mild AKI		
			- 1.6 (95% CI, 0.9-1.8) for persistent, mild AKI		
			 - 1.4 (95% CI, 0.7-3.0) for transient, moderate/severe AKI 		
			- 1.4 (95% CI, 0.7-2.8) for persistent, moderate/severe AKI		
MEDLINE search query: (("Acute Kidney Injury"[Mesh] OR "Acute Kidney Injury"[tiab]) AND (("Cardiovascular Diseases"[Mesh]) OR ("Renal Insufficiency"[Mesh]) OR ("Glomerular					

Filtration Rate"[Mesh])) AND ("recover*"[tiab]) AND (("Time"[MesH]) OR ("timin*"[tiab]) OR ("patter*" [tiab]) OR ("degre*" [tiab]) OR ("duratio*"[tiab])) AND (humans[mh])) Hits: 851

Last updated: 14 February 2023

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; CKD, chronic kidney disease; CVD, cardiovascular disease; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; HR, hazard ratio; ICU, intensive care unit; KRT, kidney replacement therapy; MACE, major atherosclerotic cardiovascular event; MAKE, major adverse kidney event; OR, odds ratio; RR, relative risk; sCr, serum creatinine.

2.7 Knowledge gaps

2.7.1 Routine clinical care creatinine data in Denmark (Study I)

In Denmark, laboratory data have been collected in the Clinical Laboratory Information System Research Database (LABKA) from the North Denmark Region and the Central Denmark Region since the 1990s and nationwide in the Register of Laboratory Results for Research (RLRR) since 2013.^{150,151} Although LABKA and the RLRR have been reviewed with regard to structure and content, the detailed geographical coverage of the databases and the characteristics of patients with pCr tests have not been examined. Combined, these databases could offer both nationwide and long-term coverage of pCr data, which holds the potential of being a valuable source of information for studies on kidney disease epidemiology. Thus, a detailed description of the available population-based pCr data from these databases is warranted.

2.7.2 Kidney function before and after acute kidney injury (Study II)

Findings from studies examining the association between AKI and changes in kidney function are inconsistent and most studies are limited methodologically or by focusing on specific patient populations. Specifically, there is a scarcity of studies among patients with a baseline eGFR ≥60 ml/min/1.73 m². Furthermore, no studies have examined the association between AKI and changes in kidney function in a population-based cohort defining AKI by the KDIGO creatinine criteria. Information on changes in eGFR level and eGFR slope from before to after AKI in a general population cohort is central for understanding the mechanisms linking acute and chronic kidney diseases and for optimizing follow-up in patients with AKI.

2.7.3 Regional variation in AKI incidence and prognosis (Study III)

Studies conducted in different countries and healthcare settings have reported domestic variation in AKI incidence and mortality after AKI. Moreover, even studies from geographically small countries with public healthcare have reported regional variation in AKI incidence and mortality after AKI. However, no studies have examined regional variation in clinical and biochemical follow-up and the incidence of CKD following AKI. Knowledge about variations in the incidence, clinical care, and outcomes of AKI in a universal healthcare system may reveal unwarranted inequalities in healthcare, which could aid in optimizing clinical care and guide the allocation of resources.

2.7.4 Acute kidney injury duration and risks of chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease (Study IV)

Although studies have been conducted in this field, the associations between AKI duration and CKD and CVD remain unclear. Most studies have examined selected study populations and not used current consensus definitions of AKI or AKI duration, which hampers the comparison and transportability of the results. No studies have examined the long-term impact of AKI duration on the risks of CKD and CVD in a population-based setting using the ADQI consensus definition of AKI duration.

Knowledge about differences in risks of CKD and CVD based on AKI duration could help inform both patients with AKI and physicians about the prognosis following AKI and assist in the planning of nephrology follow-up. Additionally, information about the impact of AKI duration on CKD and CVD development could identify a potential target for AKI-directed treatments. Therefore, a population-based study on the significance of AKI duration for the development of CKD and CVD using consensus definitions for AKI and AKI duration is warranted.
3. Hypotheses and aims

The overall aim of this PhD dissertation was to expand the current knowledge on the occurrence and prognosis of AKI through the following four studies:

3.1 Routine clinical care creatinine data in Denmark (Study I)

<u>Hypothesis</u>: The timepoint of complete geographical coverage of pCr data in LABKA and the RLRR differs considerably on a regional and municipal level. Individuals with pCr tests are older and more comorbid than the general population. A large proportion of Danish residents are tested each year.

<u>Aim</u>: To explore the availability of pCr data in LABKA and the RLRR. More specifically, to identify the timepoint when municipalities and regions were covered by the databases, to describe characteristics of the pCr-tested cohort and the general population, and to assess the annual proportion of Danish residents with a pCr test.

3.2 Kidney function before and after acute kidney injury (Study II)

<u>Hypothesis</u>: AKI is associated with an unrecovered drop in eGFR level and an accelerated rate of eGFR decline (i.e., a steeper eGFR slope after AKI compared with before AKI).

<u>Aim</u>: To examine the associations between AKI and changes in eGFR level and eGFR slope and to explore whether these associations vary according to patient characteristics, including baseline eGFR level.

3.3 Regional variation in incidence and prognosis of acute kidney injury (Study III)

<u>Hypothesis</u>: AKI incidence and CKD, mortality, and follow-up after AKI vary across the five Danish regions.

<u>Aim</u>: To examine the incidence of AKI across the Danish regions and compare rates of CKD, mortality, and follow-up after AKI accounting for differences in patient characteristics.

3.4 Acute kidney injury duration and risks of chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease (Study IV)

Hypothesis: The duration of AKI is a risk factor for CKD and CVD.

<u>Aim</u>: To examine cumulative incidences of CKD and CVD according to AKI duration. To explore the impact of AKI duration on the rates of CKD and CVD accounting for differences in patient characteristics.

4. Methods

The following section describes the materials and methods used in Studies I-IV and includes an overview presented in Table 6.

4.1 Setting

The four studies included in this dissertation were conducted in Denmark, which had 5.8 million residents in 2018.¹⁵² Denmark has a universal healthcare system allowing for tax-funded access to healthcare services, including general practitioners and specialized care.¹⁵³ The majority of specialized care, including care for patients with kidney diseases, is being offered by public hospitals.¹⁵³ Furthermore, public hospitalbased laboratories collect and analyze blood samples drawn in general practices, at hospitals, and in other specialized care facilities in Denmark and test results are recorded in central databases.^{150,151}

The administration of the Danish healthcare system is divided into three levels.¹⁵³ On the national level, healthcare legislation, planning, and financing are regulated by the government through the Ministry of Health. On the regional level, the five Regions (the Central Denmark Region, the North Denmark Region, the Region of Southern Denmark, Region Zealand, and the Capital Region of Denmark) are the main administrative units of primary and secondary healthcare services, including hospitals, general practices, and private practices specialists. Finally, on the local level, the 98 municipalities administer and oversee services such as home care and rehabilitation.¹⁵³

4.2 Data sources

Denmark has a long tradition of collecting and storing healthcare data in population-based medical databases.^{153,154} These databases are renowned for their high quality and represent a unique resource for register-based research. Exact individual-level linkage across medical databases is achieved by the use of the civil registration number, which is a unique 10-digit personal identifier assigned to all Danish residents at birth or upon immigration.¹⁵⁵

All studies in this dissertation used data from the Danish registries. The following section will give a brief introduction to the included registries.

*The Danish Civil Registration System (CRS)*¹⁵⁵ was established in 1968. In addition to the civil registration number, the register records individual-level information such as sex, date of birth, address, civil status,

vital status, and migration. From this register, we used information on sex and age (Studies I-IV), address (Studies I and III), civil status (Study III), and vital status (Studies II-IV).

*The Clinical Laboratory Information System Research Database (LABKA)*¹⁵⁰ records laboratory information on biomarkers, including blood samples drawn in general practices, outpatient clinics, emergency rooms, or at hospitals, analyzed at hospital-based laboratories in the North Denmark Region and the Central Denmark Region. Besides test results, the database contains information such as civil registration number, date and time of sampling, and unit of measurement. Recordings to the database started in the 1990s.¹⁵⁰ The assay used for measuring pCr changed from Jaffe's method to enzymatic methods during 2004–2008 and standardization to an isotope mass spectrometry reference was implemented during 2004-2010.²⁴ From this database, we used information on pCr tests (Studies I, II, and IV).

*The Register of Laboratory Results for Research (RLRR)*¹⁵¹ records nationwide laboratory information on biomarkers covering the same clinical settings as LABKA. In addition to test results, the database contains information such as civil registration number, date and time of sampling, and unit of measurement. Reporting to the database started in 2013.¹⁵¹ From this database, we used information on urine dipstick tests and measurements of pCr, urine albumin concentration, urine albumin excretion rate, and urine albumin-creatinine ratio (Studies II-IV).

*The Danish National Patient Registry (DNPR)*¹⁵⁴ contains information on admissions to non-psychiatric hospitals since 1977 and admissions to emergency clinics, outpatient clinics, and psychiatric hospitals since 1995. The registry holds information on dates of admission and discharge, examinations, diagnoses, and procedures performed (including KRT and surgical procedures). For each contact, the primary diagnosis and an optional number of secondary diagnoses are recorded according to the international classification of diseases (ICD) 8th revision until 1994 and ICD 10th revision thereafter. We used information from this registry to define various covariates (Studies I-IV) and outcomes (Studies III-IV).

*The Danish National Prescription Registry (NPR)*¹⁵⁶ holds individual-level information on all prescriptions for drugs dispensed in Danish pharmacies or used at nursing homes since 1995. The registry records information on the dispensing date, number and size of dispensed packages, and the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) code of the dispensed drug. We used information on prescription drug use as a covariate in all studies.

*The National Health Service Registry (NHSR)*¹⁵⁷ has been recording information on services provided by private practicing health professionals, including general practitioners and practicing medical specialists since 1990. The registry contains information on the type and specialty of the provider and the date and

type of services provided. From this registry, we used information on contact with a general practitioner (Study I) and urine dipstick tests (Study III).

*The Danish National Pathology Registry*¹⁵⁸ holds nationwide information on all pathology examinations, including kidney biopsies, performed in Denmark since 1997. In addition to information on diagnosis according to the Danish version of the Systemized Nomenclature of Medicine (SNOMED) codes, the registry contains information on the requesting department or general practitioner, procedures performed, and microscopy descriptions. From this registry, we used information on kidney biopsies (Study I).

*Statistics Denmark*¹⁵⁹ provides a publicly available resource entitled "StatBank Denmark" containing aggregated census information, including information on the number of residents in municipalities and regions by age and sex. From this register, we retrieved information on the general population (Studies I and III).

4.3 Study designs and populations

The four studies included in this dissertation are population-based cohort studies.

In Study I, individuals with one or more pCr tests recorded in LABKA or the RLRR from 1 January 1990 to 31 December 2018 were included. Additionally, we sampled a general population cohort using a 2% monthly random sample of Danish residents in 2016-2018.

For Studies II-IV, the study populations included patients with AKI. AKI was identified by implementing the KDIGO creatinine criteria using a three-step approach (Figure 2):

- 1) An absolute increase in pCr of \geq 26.5 µmol/l within 48 hours or
- 2) a relative increase of \geq 1.5 times the lowest pCr test within the last seven days or
- 3) a relative increase of ≥1.5 times the baseline pCr level, which was defined as the median outpatient pCr test within the previous 8-365 days. In this setting and throughout, we use the term "outpatient pCr" to cover pCr tests drawn outside the acute hospital setting meaning tests from primary care and planned outpatient visits.

Using this approach, each pCr test was evaluated by comparison with prior pCr tests and AKI was identified if one or more of the aforementioned criteria were fulfilled. Tests from patients with kidney failure were censored (kidney failure is defined in the Outcomes section below).



Figure 2. Implementation of the KDIGO creatinine criteria for acute kidney injury. Abbreviations: KDIGO, Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes; pCr, plasma creatinine.

In Study II, adults (≥18 years of age) with a first-time laboratory-recorded AKI were identified in LABKA or the RLRR from 1 April 2010 to 31 December 2017. This period was chosen to ensure that pCr tests were analyzed using standardized isotope dilution mass spectrometry.²⁴ Included patients were required to have three or more outpatient pCr tests more than seven days before AKI and spanning at least 90 days, with one test drawn within 365 days before AKI, as well as three or more outpatient pCr tests spanning at least 90 days from day 91 after AKI and onwards.

In Study III, two study populations were used. The incidence of AKI was estimated using a study population that included all adults (≥18 years of age) in 2017. When examining CKD, mortality, and biochemical follow-up after AKI, the study population included patients with AKI in 2017. This study period was chosen to ensure one year of laboratory look-back and one year of follow-up for all regions.¹⁶⁰ To prevent including the same AKI episode more than once in estimates of AKI incidence, we defined the duration of an AKI episode as 90 days.

In Study IV, adults (≥18 years of age) with a first-time laboratory-recorded AKI in LABKA or the RLRR from 1 January 1990 to 31 December 2018 were identified. To ensure that AKIs were incident, only AKIs with onset more than 90 days after the first recorded pCr test and with no pCr test fulfilling the AKI definition in that period were considered. To enable categorization of AKI duration, included patients were required to have an outpatient baseline pCr test 8-365 days before AKI and an assessment of AKI duration by one or more pCr tests within the first seven days after AKI onset. Patients without a baseline eGFR measurement and assessment of AKI duration within the first seven days were described but not included in the analyses.

4.4 Exposures

Study I was a descriptive study of the pCr data recorded in LABKA and the RLRR. When evaluating if municipalities and regions were covered by the laboratory databases the exposure was calendar month and year. When assessing the annual proportions of Danish residents with a recorded pCr test the exposure was calendar year. The characterization of pCr-tested individuals and the general population was purely descriptive and did not include an exposure.

Study II was a descriptive study of changes in eGFR from before to after AKI. Therefore, eGFR was modeled as a function of time before and after AKI.

In Study III, the exposure was the region of residence in 2017.

In Study IV, the exposure was AKI duration. In accordance with the ADQI definition, we categorized AKIs using three duration groups: 1) Rapid reversal AKI, if a pCr test <48 hours after AKI onset did not fulfill the AKI criteria and this reversal was followed by \geq 48 hours without a new pCr test fulfilling the AKI criteria; 2) persistent AKI, if not fulfilling criterion 1) and a pCr test within two to seven days after AKI onset did not fulfill the AKI criteria and this was followed by \geq 48 hours without a new pCr test fulfilling the AKI criteria; 3) AKD, if neither 1) nor 2) were fulfilled.⁸⁰

4.5 Outcomes

4.5.1 Complete geographical coverage of the laboratory databases (Study I)

When assessing the coverage of the laboratory databases, the outcome was complete geographical coverage on a municipal and a regional level. The coverage of the laboratory databases was evaluated using a visual inspection of the number of recorded pCr tests from each municipality (Figure 3). The geographical coverage was considered complete when the daily numbers of reported pCr tests from each municipality reached a stable level.



Figure 3. Typical pattern of reporting to the laboratory databases (municipality of Vejle in 2015). Notes: The numbers in each panel represent the date within the month and the color of the number indicates the day of the week. The position on the y-axis indicates the number of tests recorded on a given date. Here, we considered November to be the first month with complete reporting throughout. Note that due to the Christmas holidays, there is an expected drop in testing in late December. From *Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Vestergaard SV, Sørensen HT, Christiansen CF. Routine Clinical Care Creatinine Data in Denmark - An Epidemiological Resource for Nationwide Population-Based Studies of Kidney Disease. Clinical epidemiology. 2022;14:1415-1426. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S380840*, (Appendix I)¹⁶⁰.

4.5.2 Changes in eGFR level and eGFR slope (Study II)

In Study II, the outcome was eGFR as a function of time before and after AKI. Specifically, this covered eGFR levels and eGFR slopes before and after AKI and the difference in eGFR levels and slopes from before to after AKI. eGFR was estimated from pCr using the 2009 Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) creatinine equation, assuming non-black race.¹⁶¹

4.5.3 Mortality (Studies II-IV)

All-cause mortality was an outcome in Study III (in addition to being used descriptively in Study II and as a competing event in Study IV). In all four studies, information on death was obtained using the CRS, which is considered virtually complete.¹⁵⁵

4.5.3 Biochemical follow-up after acute kidney injury (Study III)

Biochemical follow-up after AKI included urine dipstick tests and measurements of pCr, urine albumin (including urine albumin concentration and urine albumin excretion rate), and urine albumin-creatinine ratio performed by general practitioners or specialists. Information on all tests was obtained from the RLRR.¹⁵¹ Furthermore, information on dipstick tests performed by general practitioners was retrieved from the NHSR.¹⁵⁷ Biochemical follow-up was evaluated during the three months from the end of the AKI episode to not include tests performed during the AKI episode.

4.5.4 Outpatient contact with a nephrology department (Study III)

Outpatient contact with a nephrology department was defined by a recording of an outpatient hospital contact with a nephrology department in the DNPR and evaluated during the six months following AKI onset to cover both the AKI episode and the subsequent three months.

4.5.5 Chronic kidney disease (Studies III-IV) and kidney failure (Studies II-IV)

CKD and kidney failure were defined using a combination of pCr tests from LABKA and the RLRR and diagnosis and procedure codes from DNPR.¹⁶²

The definition of CKD included: 1) The first observation of two or more outpatient eGFR measurements of <60 ml/min/1.73 m² separated by >90 days; 2) a hospital diagnosis of CKD stage 3-5, dependency of KRT, or kidney transplantation; or 3) a hospital procedural code of KRT due to CKD or kidney transplantation. Correspondingly, the definition of kidney failure included: 1) The first observation of two or more outpatient eGFR measurements of <15 ml/min/1.73 m² separated by >90 days; 2) a hospital diagnosis of CKD stage 5, dependency of KRT, or kidney transplantation; or 3) a hospital procedural code of KRT due to CKD or kidney transplantation. The time of CKD or KF was defined as the date of the first CKD-defining diagnosis or procedure code or the date of the second defining eGFR measurement more than 90 days after the first defining eGFR measurement.

4.5.6 Cardiovascular disease (Study IV)

In Study IV, the composite outcome of CVD included atrial fibrillation and flutter, ischemic heart disease, heart failure, stroke, and hypertension. In addition to the composite outcome, each subgroup of CVD was evaluated separately. All CVDs were defined by hospital diagnosis codes in the DNPR.

4.6 Covariates

Information on various covariates was retrieved to enable characterization of the study population (Studies I-IV), stratification (Studies I-IV), stratification (Studies I-IV), standardization (Study III), and confounder adjustment through multivariable regression (Studies III-IV). Covariates including age, sex, place of residence, and civil status was retrieved from the CRS.¹⁵⁵ Information on comorbidities and medical and surgical procedures, including kidney transplantation and KRT, was obtained from the DNPR.¹⁵⁴ Information on prescription drug use was obtained from the NPR¹⁵⁶ and information on contacts and procedures performed in the primary healthcare sector was retrieved from the NHSR (Studies I and III).¹⁵⁷

In addition to individual comorbidities, the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) score was used to categorize overall comorbidity in Study III.¹⁶³ The coding of the included conditions has been found to have a high positive predictive value (PPV) in the DNPR.¹⁶⁴

In Studies II-IV, we stratified AKI episodes by the highest reached AKI stage based on changes in pCr or initiation of KRT within seven days of AKI onset in accordance with the KDIGO definition (Table 1).¹ In Studies II-IV, AKI was categorized as community-acquired if it occurred on a day without hospitalization or on the first day of hospitalization and as hospital-acquired if it occurred after the first day of hospitalization.⁹⁰ In Study IV, we additionally defined AKI occurring more than one day after admission to an ICU as ICU-acquired AKI. In Studies II and IV, AKI was categorized as surgery-related if it occurred within seven days after surgery and as sepsis-related if it occurred during a hospitalization with a registered code for a sepsis diagnosis (categories were not mutually exclusive).

In Study III, additional analyses were performed according to categories of municipalities as defined by Statistics Denmark.¹⁶⁵ The classification defines five municipality categories based on a composite of the number of residents in the largest city in the municipality and the availability of jobs. The categories include capital municipalities (>200,000 available jobs), metropolitan municipalities (<200,000 available jobs and >100,000 residents in the largest city), provincial municipalities (<200,000 available jobs and 30,000-100,000 residents in the largest city), commuter municipalities (40,000-200,000 available jobs and <30,000 residents in the largest city), and rural municipalities (<40,000 available jobs and <30,000 residents in the largest city).

4.7 Statistical analysis

Analyses were performed using R versions 4.0.4-4.2.2 (R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. www.R-project.org) and SAS version

9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). Data for all studies were stored and analyzed on secure servers hosted by the Danish Health Data Authority.

4.7.1 Patient characteristics

Patient characteristics including age, sex, comorbidities, prescription drug use, and information on baseline pCr and eGFR level were tabulated in contingency tables and summarized as medians with interquartile ranges (IQR) for continuous variables and counts with percentages for categorical variables (Studies I-IV).

4.7.2 Timing of complete reporting to laboratory databases (Study I)

The visual evaluation of reporting to the laboratory databases was supported by a quantitative analysis. This analysis defined the time of completion for each municipality as the month in, and after, which $\geq 8\%$ of patients with diabetes residing in the municipality had a monthly pCr test (except for July, which is the primary month of summer vacation in Denmark). This is equivalent to all patients with diabetes having at least one annual pCr test, which reflects current testing guidelines in Denmark.¹⁶⁶⁻¹⁷⁰ If the quantitative analysis identified a later time point of complete coverage than the visual inspection, data were reassessed and a consensus was reached among the authors of the study.

4.7.3 Analysis of clustered data (Study II)

Conventional statistical methods assume that observations are independent, i.e., that the value of one observation is not influenced by the value of another observation.¹⁷¹ In the case of repeated measures from the same patient, this assumption is violated as the values from one patient will tend to be more similar than values from different patients.¹⁷¹ The clustering of data needs to be accounted for in the analyses, which can be achieved by estimating summary measures for each cluster.¹⁷¹ In Study II, each patient represented a cluster of outpatient eGFR measurements, and summary statics for each patient was estimated by fitting individual linear regressions. Specifically, eGFR was modeled as a function of time for each patient using one linear regression based on tests more than seven days before AKI and another linear regression based on tests more than seven days before AKI and another linear regression based on tests more the time of AKI. For each patient, the change in eGFR level was defined as the extrapolated eGFR level at the time of AKI, from the regression using data after AKI, minus the extrapolated eGFR level at the time of AKI, from the regression using data before AKI. The relative change in eGFR level was defined as the change in eGFR level divided by the extrapolated eGFR level at the time of AKI, from the regression using data before AKI.

defined as the slope of the regression after AKI minus the slope of the regression before AKI. Model assumptions were checked and found appropriate using diagnostic plots of the residuals. As a visual supplement, cubic splines were used to plot the median eGFR with IQR as a function of time before and after AKI.



Figure 4. Modelling eGFR as a function of time before and after AKI. A hypothetical continuously measured eGFR trajectory is represented by the blue line. The solid green line represents the eGFR trajectory before AKI and the dotted green line the extrapolated eGFR trajectory from the period before AKI. The solid orange line represents the eGFR trajectory after AKI and the dotted orange line the extrapolated eGFR from the period before AKI. The solid orange line represents the eGFR trajectory after AKI and the dotted orange line the extrapolated eGFR from the period following AKI. From *Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Vestergaard SV, Gammelager H, Birn H, Nitsch D, Christiansen CF. Kidney function before and after acute kidney injury: a nationwide population-based cohort study. Clin Kidney J. 2022 Nov 18;16(3):484-493. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfac247 (Appendix II)¹⁷². Abbreviations: AKI, acute kidney injury; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate.*

4.7.4 Incidence rates and standardization (Study III)

Incidence rates and mortality rates express the number of events per person per unit of time and are estimated by dividing the number of events in the population with the total population-time at risk during the follow-up period.^{171,173} Often, this is presented as events per person-year. In Study III, we estimated incidence rates of AKI among residents in each of the Danish regions and 1-year incidence rates of CKD and mortality among patients with AKI. The incidence rates of AKI were estimated using the number of adult residents on 1 January 2017 by region assuming that each person contributed one year of person-time.¹⁵⁹

In addition to crude incidence rates, we estimated sex-and-age-standardized incidence rates.¹⁷¹ Direct standardization by sex and age is performed by applying sex and age-specific rates to a standard population.¹⁷¹ When standardizing the AKI incidence rates, the adult Danish population on 1 January 2017

was used as the standard population, while the CKD-free AKI population was used for standardization of the CKD rates, and the overall AKI population was used for standardization of the mortality rates. The resulting standardized rates allow for a comparison of results across regions despite differences in sex and age distributions. Confidence intervals (CI) were computed using the approximate bootstrap method.¹⁷⁴

4.7.5 Cumulative incidence (Study IV)

In Study IV, we evaluated the cumulative incidences (risks) of CKD and CVD after AKI using the Aalen-Johansen estimator.¹⁷⁵ As CKD and CVD are non-fatal events, their occurrence can be precluded by death.¹⁷⁶ Therefore, it is important to account for the competing risk of death when studying non-fatal outcomes.^{176,177} In contrast to the widely used Kaplan-Meier estimator,¹⁷⁸ the Aalen-Johansen estimator allows for competing events by estimating the probability of the outcome of interest before a given time and before the competing event.^{176,177} Accordingly, we used the Aalen-Johansen estimator to estimate the risks of CKD and CVD after AKI.

4.7.6 Cox proportional hazards regression (Studies III-IV)

In Studies III and IV, we used Cox proportion hazards regression to estimate crude and adjusted hazard ratios (HRs).¹⁷⁹ The hazard rate at a given time is the instantaneous rate of occurrence of the event of interest in subjects at risk at that time, and the HR is the ratio between hazard rates of exposure groups (or other independent variables) at any given time.¹⁷⁶ Central to the use of HRs is the assumption of proportional hazards over time, i.e., the HR does not depend on the time since the start of follow-up. This assumption was checked using log(-log) plots or plots of Schoenfeld residuals and found appropriate in all studies.

4.8 Ethical considerations

The four studies included were reported to the Danish Data Protection Agency (record number 2015–57-0002) by registration at Aarhus University (record number 2016–051-000001/812). According to Danish law, register-based observational studies that do not include human biological material and are based on data such as numbers, letters, and signs do not require approval from the Danish Scientific Ethics Committee.¹⁸⁰

Table 6. Overview of material and methods

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV
Aims	 To identify when municipalities and regions were covered by LABKA and/or the RLRR To describe the characteristics of pCr- tested individuals and the general population To assess the annual proportion of Danish residents with a recorded pCr test 	To describe the changes in eGFR level and eGFR slope from before to after AKI	To examine regional variation in: 1) AKI incidence 2) CKD, mortality, and follow-up after AKI	To examine whether AKI duration is a risk factor for CKD and CVD in a population-based setting
Study period	1 Jan 1990 - 31 Dec 2018	1 Apr 2010 - 31 Dec 2017 with follow-up through 2018	1 Jan 2017 - 31 Dec 2017 with follow-up through 2018	1 Jan 1990 - 31 Dec 2018
Design	Population-based cohort study	Population-based cohort study	Population-based cohort study	Population-based cohort study
Data sources	CRS, LABKA, RLRR, DNPR, NPR, NHSR, Danish National Pathology Registry, StatBank Denmark	CRS, LABKA, RLRR, DNPR, NPR	CRS, RLRR, DNPR, NPR, StatBank Denmark	CRS, LABKA, RLRR, DNPR, NPR
Study population	Individuals with a pCr test and a random sample of the general population (all ages)	Patients (≥18 years) with AKI and ≥3 outpatient pCr tests before and after AKI	 Individuals (≥18 years) Patients (≥18 years) with AKI 	Patients (≥18 years) with AKI and an outpatient baseline pCr test and assessment of AKI duration within the first seven days after AKI
Exposures	 Calendar month and year Descriptive (no exposure) Calendar year 	Time before and after AKI	Region of residence	AKI duration: Rapid reversal AKI (<48 hours), persistent AKI (2-7 days), AKD (>7 days)
Outcomes	 Complete geographical coverage on a municipal and a regional level Characteristics of the two cohorts Annual proportion of individuals with a pCr test 	 eGFR levels and slopes before and after AKI Changes in eGFR levels and slopes from before to after AKI 	 AKI CKD, mortality, biochemical follow-up, and outpatient contact with a nephrology department following AKI 	CKD, kidney failure, CVD (overall and by subtypes)
Covariates ¹	Age, sex	Age, sex, baseline eGFR, AKI stage, location, setting, calendar period	Age, sex, selected comorbidities and prescriptions, markers of lifestyle, baseline eGFR	Age, sex, selected comorbidities and prescriptions, markers of lifestyle, baseline eGFR, AKI stage, location, setting

Statistical analysis	 Daily and annual counts of pCr tests by municipality, annual counts of pCr tests by region, annual proportion of individuals with a pCr test by region Complete geographical coverage was defined as the timepoint when daily counts of recorded pCr tests from each municipality became stable by visual inspection 	Analyses of clustered data by summary measures (individual linear regressions)	Crude and standardized incidence rates, Cox regression	Cumulative incidence, Cox regression
Additional analysis	Assessment of the time of complete geographical coverage was supported by quantitative analyses of when at least 8% of patients with diabetes within a municipality had a monthly pCr test	 Stratification by age groups, baseline eGFR, calendar period, AKI stage, location, and setting Repeating main analyses including patients with two tests before and after AKI Proportion of patients with a rapid decline in eGFR defined as a decline of >5 ml/min/1.73 m²/year before and after AKI 	Analyses were repeated according to municipality categories	 Stratification by age groups, sex, baseline eGFR, AKI stage, location, and setting Repeating main analyses including patients with baseline within 90 days before AKI and restricting to AKI after 1 April 2010

¹Covariates used for stratification, standardization, and multivariable regression.

Abbreviations: AKD, acute kidney disease; AKI, acute kidney injury; CKD, chronic kidney disease; CRS, Civil Registration System; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DNPR, Danish National Patient Registry; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; LABKA, Clinical Laboratory Information System Research Database; NHSR, The National Health Service Registry, NPR, Danish National Prescription Registry; pCr, plasma creatinine; RLRR, Register of Laboratory Results for Research.

5. Results

The main findings from the four studies comprising this dissertation are outlined in the following sections. For a more detailed description, please see the full versions of Studies I-IV included in the corresponding Appendices I-IV.

5.1 Routine clinical care creatinine data in Denmark (Study I)

The study population included 4,647,966 Danish individuals, who had one or more pCr tests recorded in LABKA or the RLRR during 1990-2018. During the study period, a total of 61,011,941 pCr tests were recorded.

The annual recording of pCr tests increased steadily during the 2000s and 2010s for regions reporting to LABKA (the North Denmark Region and the Central Denmark Region). For regions reporting solely to the RLRR (the Capital Region of Denmark, the Region of Southern Denmark, and Region Zealand) there was a steep increase in the annual number of recorded pCr tests at the onset of reporting to the database (Figure 5).



Figure 5. The recording of pCr tests (annual number in millions) in Danish regions and municipalities. Each panel covers one region with the colored line representing the overall number of tests in the region and the gray lines representing municipalities within that region. From *Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Vestergaard SV, Sørensen HT, Christiansen CF. Routine Clinical Care Creatinine Data in Denmark - An Epidemiological Resource for Nationwide Population-Based Studies of Kidney Disease. Clinical epidemiology. 2022;14:1415-1426. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S380840*, (Appendix I)¹⁶⁰. Abbreviations: pCr, plasma creatinine.

The two regions reporting to LABKA were the first to achieve complete geographical coverage. The North Denmark Region achieved complete coverage in November 2004 and the Central Denmark Region in November 2009. For the three regions reporting solely to the RLRR, the Capital Region of Denmark had complete geographical coverage in October 2014, the Region of Southern Denmark in October 2015, and Region Zealand in February 2014 (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Map of Denmark illustrating the time of complete geographical coverage by municipality. Color temperature represents the time of complete coverage. Black lines mark the regional borders. From *Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Vestergaard SV, Sørensen HT, Christiansen CF. Routine Clinical Care Creatinine Data in Denmark - An Epidemiological Resource for Nationwide Population-Based Studies of Kidney Disease. Clinical epidemiology. 2022;14:1415-1426. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S380840*, (Appendix I)¹⁶⁰.

During the 2016-2018 period, where nationwide coverage was complete, 22,186,849 pCr tests were recorded from 3,403,441 unique Danish individuals. Compared with a random sample of the general population, pCr-tested individuals were more often females (54% versus 50%), older (53 versus 41 years), had more comorbidities, and used more prescription drugs. Detailed characteristics of pCr-tested individuals and a random sample of the general population can be found in Appendix I, Table 1. In this period, each year more than one in three Danish residents had a pCr test. The annual proportion of individuals with a pCr test increased with age to a maximum of 94%-96% among those aged 77-87 years. For children and individuals >60 years of age the proportion of pCr-tested individuals were similar for men

and women. However, from early adolescence until approximately 60 years of age, the proportion of women with a pCr-test was higher than among men.

5.2 Kidney function before and after acute kidney injury (Study II)

From 1 April 2010 to 31 December 2017, we identified 265,161 patients with a first-time laboratoryrecorded AKI. Of these, 98,072 had three or more outpatient pCr tests before and after AKI and were included in the analyses. Included patients were younger and had more comorbidities compared with patients not included. Among the included patients, 64,805 (66%) had a baseline eGFR \geq 60 ml/min/1.73 m² and 33,267 (34%) had a baseline eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m². The main analyses were conducted according to these two cohorts. Detailed characteristics of patients included and not included in the analyses can be found in Appendix II, Table 1 and S1.

In both cohorts, median eGFR decreased in the period leading up to AKI and drastically dropped at the time of AKI (Figure 7). Following AKI, median eGFR increased rapidly but did not return to the level before AKI before transitioning to a steady decrease.

For patients with a baseline eGFR \geq 60 ml/min/1.73 m², the median difference in absolute eGFR level from before to after AKI was -5.6 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, -16.1 to 1.8), the median relative change in eGFR level was -6.1% (IQR, -18.5 to 2.1), and the median difference in eGFR slope from before to after AKI was -0.4 ml/min/1.73 m²/year (IQR, -5.5 to 4.4) (Figures 7 and 8).

For patients with a baseline eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m², the median difference in absolute eGFR level from before to after AKI was -2.2 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, -9.2 to 4.3), the median relative change in eGFR level was -5.5% (IQR, -21.3 to 11.0), and the median difference



Figure 7. eGFR (median (black line) with IQR (grey area)) according to time before and after AKI. From *Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Vestergaard SV, Gammelager H, Birn H, Nitsch D, Christiansen CF. Kidney function before and after acute kidney injury: a nationwide population-based cohort study. Clin Kidney J.* 2022 Nov 18;16(3):484-493. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfac247 (Appendix II)¹⁷². Abbreviations: AKI, acute kidney injury; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; IQR, interquartile range.

in eGFR slope from before to after AKI was 1.5 ml/min/1.73 m²/year (IQR, -2.9 to 6.5) (Figures 7 and 8). These findings were consistent with a sensitivity analysis of patients with two or more pCr tests before and after AKI. Furthermore, the pattern of changes in eGFR level and eGFR slope from the main analysis was consistent across AKI stages, location (community and hospital), setting (sepsis and surgery), age groups (<40, 40-59, 60-79, and ≥80 years), and calendar periods (2010-2013, 2014-2015, and 2016-2017).



Figure 8. Distributions of extrapolated eGFR levels and eGFR slopes before and after AKI by baseline eGFR. From *Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Vestergaard SV, Gammelager H, Birn H, Nitsch D, Christiansen CF. Kidney function before and after acute kidney injury: a nationwide population-based cohort study. Clin Kidney J. 2022 Nov 18;16(3):484-493. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfac247 (Appendix II)¹⁷². Abbreviations: eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate.*

5.3 Regional variation in incidence and prognosis of acute kidney injury (Study III)

We identified 63,382 AKI episodes in 58,356 adults in 2017. Overall, patient characteristics were similar across regions (Appendix III, Table 1). Still, residents of Region Zealand had slightly more comorbidities, while the Capital Region of Denmark had slightly fewer users of most prescription drugs.

5.3.1 Incidence of acute kidney injury

The crude AKI incidence rates ranged from 13.0 to 15.9 per 1,000 person-years across regions, while sexand-age-standardized rates ranged from 12.9 to 14.9 per 1,000 person-years (Figure 9).

5.3.2 Chronic kidney disease, mortality, and follow-up after acute kidney injury

The standardized 1-year incidence rates of CKD after AKI ranged from 124 to 144 per 1,000 person-years. After adjusting for differences in patient characteristics, the North Denmark Region had the highest adjusted hazard ratio (aHR) of CKD after AKI [HR: 1.25 (95% Cl, 1.12-1.40) compared with the Capital Region of Denmark] (Table 7).

Standardized 1-year mortality rates after AKI ranged from 337 to 381 per 1,000 person-years, while the aHRs of death were comparable across regions (Table 7).



Figure 9. Incidence rates of AKI. Symbols indicate the point estimates and lines indicate the 95% confidence intervals. All x-axes display incidence rates per 1,000 person-years. From Jensen SK, Rasmussen TB, Jacobsen BH, Heide-Jørgensen U, Sawhney S, Gammelager H, Birn H, Johnsen SP, Christiansen CF. Regional variation in incidence and prognosis of acute kidney injury in Denmark: a population-based cohort study (Appendix III). Abbreviations: AKI, acute kidney injury.

The proportion of patients with biochemical follow-up including urine dipstick tests and measurements of urine albumin, urine albumin-creatinine ratio, and pCr within three months after AKI ranged from 60% to 69% across regions. Similarly, outpatient contact with a nephrology department among patients with KRT-requiring AKI was between 25% and 32%. The Capital Region of Denmark had a slightly lower aHR of biochemical follow-up than the other regions, while the Central Denmark Region had the highest aHR of outpatient nephrology follow-up among patients with KRT-requiring AKI (Table 7).

When examining CKD, mortality, and follow-up after AKI according to municipality categories, the aHRs of death were similar, while the rural municipalities had the highest aHR of CKD [HR 1.14 (95% CI, 1.04-1.25)]. Furthermore, the aHR of biochemical follow-up was slightly lower in the capital municipalities than the other municipality categories, and the aHR of outpatient nephrology follow-up among patients with KFT-requiring AKI were lower in rural and capital municipalities than in commuter, provincial, and metropolitan municipalities.

Table 7. Adjusted hazard ratios for chronic kidney disease, death, biochemical follow-up, and outpatient contract with a nephrology department after acute kidney injury

	Central Denmark Region	North Denmark Region	Region of Southern Denmark	Region Zealand	Capital Region of Denmark
Chronic kidney disease	1.03 (0.94-1.13)	1.25 (1.12-1.40)	1.11 (1.01-1.21)	1.07 (0.97-1.18)	1 (ref)
Death	0.99 (0.94-1.04)	1.05 (0.99-1.11)	1.02 (0.98-1.07)	1.05 (1.00-1.10)	1 (ref)
Biochemical follow-up ^a	1.13 (1.09-1.16)	1.14 (1.10-1.18)	1.10 (1.07-1.13)	1.08 (1.05-1.12)	1 (ref)
Outpatient contact with a nephrology department within six months after AKI onset among KRT-requiring AKI	1.50 (0.99-2.28)	1.04 (0.64-1.70)	1.11 (0.69-1.77)	1.28 (0.85-1.94)	1 (ref)

^aBiochemical follow-up covered any dipstick, u-albumin, UACR, or pCr test within three months after the end of an AKI episode. Models were adjusted for differences in demographics, comorbidities, medication use, lifestyle and social factors, and baseline eGFR. *From Jensen SK, Rasmussen TB, Jacobsen BH, Heide-Jørgensen U, Sawhney S, Gammelager H, Birn H, Johnsen SP, Christiansen CF. Regional variation in incidence and prognosis of acute kidney injury in Denmark: a population-based cohort study* (Appendix III). Abbreviations: AKI, acute kidney injury; KRT, kidney replacement therapy.

5.4 Acute kidney injury duration and risks of chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease

(Study IV)

From 1 January 1990 to 31 December 2018, we identified 169,582 patients with AKI, who had an outpatient baseline pCr test within the prior 8-365 days, assessment of AKI duration by one or more pCr tests within seven days after AKI onset, and were alive and uncensored at the start of follow-up. Among included patients, 36,514 (22%) had rapid reversal AKI, 22,619 (13%) had persistent AKI, and 110,499 (65%) had AKD. Detailed characteristics of included patients can be found in Appendix IV, Table 1.

5.4.1 Chronic kidney disease and kidney failure

During the 20 years of follow-up, the risk of CKD was 18.9% (95% CI, 18.2-19.6) for rapid reversal AKI, 23.2% (95% CI, 22.1-24.2) for persistent AKI, and 22.0% (95% CI, 21.6-22.5) for AKD (Figure 10). The aHR for CKD increased with AKI duration [aHR = 1.15 (95% CI, 1.09-1.22) for persistent AKI and 1.47 (95% CI, 1.40-1.53) for AKD compared with rapid reversal AKI].

The risk of kidney failure during the 20 years of follow-up was 1.8% (95% CI, 1.6-2.0) for rapid reversal AKI, 2.4% (95% CI, 2.1-2.7) for persistent AKI, and 2.6% (95% CI, 2.5-2.7) for AKD (Figure 10). The aHR was 1.09 (95% CI, 0.94-1.26) for persistent AKI and 1.50 (95% CI, 1.33-1.66) for AKD compared with rapid reversal AKI.



Figure 10. Twenty-year risks of chronic kidney disease and kidney failure. From *Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Gammelager H, Birn H, Christiansen CF. Acute kidney injury duration and 20-year risk of chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease: a population-based cohort study* (Appendix IV). Abbreviations: AKD, acute kidney disease; AKI, acute kidney injury.

5.4.2 Cardiovascular disease

The overall risk of CVD during the 20 years of follow-up was 37.3% (95% CI, 35.3-39.4) for rapid reversal AKI, 35.6% (95% CI, 33.9-37.3) for persistent AKI, and 33.8% (95% CI, 32.9-34.7) for AKD (Figure 11). The aHR for CVD was comparable across AKI duration groups [aHR = 1.02 (95% CI, 0.95-1.09) for persistent AKI and 0.98 (95% CI, 0.93-1.03) for AKD compared with rapid reversal AKI]. This was consistent for outcomes of atrial fibrillation or flutter, stroke, and hypertension. For ischemic heart disease, the aHR was slightly higher for AKD than rapid reversal AKI [aHRs = 1.11 (95% CI, 1.03-1.19)], while both persistent AKI and AKD were associated with higher rates of heart failure [aHRs = 1.09 (95% CI, 1.02-1.16) and 1.09 (95% CI, 1.03-1.15), respectively] than rapid reversal AKI.



Figure 11. Twenty-year risks of cardiovascular disease. From *Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Gammelager H, Birn H, Christiansen CF. Acute kidney injury duration and 20-year risk of chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease: a population-based cohort study* (Appendix IV). Abbreviations: AKD, acute kidney disease; AKI, acute kidney injury.

6. Discussion

6.1 Main findings

In Study I, we showed that the combination of pCr data from LABKA and the RLRR offer long follow-up and nationwide coverage with the first recordings made in the 1990s, regional coverage beginning in November 2004, and complete nationwide coverage from October 2015. In recent years, more than one-third of the Danish population had a pCr test at least once a year. Tested individuals were more often females, were older, and had more comorbidities than the general population.

In Study II, we found that AKI was associated with long-term changes in eGFR level and eGFR slope in patients with repeated outpatient pCr tests before and after AKI. For the main cohorts (baseline eGFR \geq or <60 ml/min/1.73 m²), AKI was associated with a drop in eGFR level when comparing the period after AKI to the period before AKI. Furthermore, AKI was associated with a decrease in eGFR slope in the cohort with baseline eGFR \geq 60 ml/min/1.73 m², while an increase in eGFR slope was found in the cohort with eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m².

In Study III, we found regional variation in AKI incidence rates, which was partially attributable to differences in age and sex distributions across the Danish regions. The mortality after AKI was similar after adjusting for differences in patient characteristics. However, CKD, biochemical follow-up, and outpatient contact with a nephrology department after KRT-requiring AKI varied across regions. Similar differences were found across categories of municipalities.

In Study IV, we found a gradual increase in rates of CKD and kidney failure with increasing AKI duration. AKI duration was not associated with rates of overall CVD. However, AKD was associated with a slightly higher rate of ischemic heart disease than rapid reversal AKI, while both persistent AKI and AKD were associated with a minor increase in rates of heart failure compared rapid reversal AKI.

6.2 Comparison with the existing literature

6.2.1 Routine clinical care creatinine data in Denmark (Study I)

The overall findings on population coverage and characteristics of pCr-tested individuals from Study I correspond to findings from other studies on population-based laboratory databases with pCr data.¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹² Kampmann et al.¹¹¹ reported that 78% of adult residents in the included municipalities had a pCr test during 2007-2013. Correspondingly, Henriksen et al.¹¹⁰ reported a population coverage of 66% among all residents on Funen during 2000-2015. The lower population coverage reported by Henriksen et al.¹¹⁰ is likely related to the inclusion of individuals <18 years, which we found to be the age group with the lowest proportion of

tested individuals. Similar to our findings, three studies reported that around one-third of residents had a sCr test each year.¹¹⁰⁻¹¹²

The annual proportion of individuals with a pCr test increased steadily for all regions after archiving complete geographical coverage. A similar observation was reported by Henriksen et al.¹¹⁰ None of the studies describing databases with population-based sCr data had information on the cause of individual pCr tests. However, the increasing use of pCr-testing is likely related to both the increasing prevalence of noncommunicable diseases such as hypertension (from 18% in 2010 to 21% in 2021) and diabetes (5% in 2010 to 6% in 2021) and modern treatment guidelines for these diseases recommending regular biochemical testing to evaluate secondary kidney involvement and assess treatment goals.^{181,182}

We found a higher proportion of females than males among pCr-tested individuals. The discrepancy was most pronounced from adolescence to approximately 60 years of age. Runesson et al.¹¹¹ observed a similar difference in pCr testing in this interval and other studies also reported a higher proportion of females among tested individuals compared with the general population.^{110,112} This could be related to gender differences in healthcare-seeking behaviors and consultations for reproductive reasons as differences in primary care consultations, especially during the reproductive years, closely resemble the differences in pCr testing.^{183,184}

Our findings complement previous studies describing the structure and content of LABKA and the RLRR.^{150,151} Information on the geographical coverage of the databases will facilitate studies based on these data by providing information that enables optimization of the study period when complete geographical coverage is required, such as in Study III. In addition, this will be of relevance to studies on temporal trends of kidney diseases based on pCr tests both to assure that findings are not due to incomplete data but also to account for temporal changes in testing frequencies. Finally, although we only examined the geographical coverage of pCr tests, we would expect the findings to apply to the databases in general, i.e., other biomarkers are likely to follow a similar pattern of reporting to the databases.

6.2.2 Kidney function before and after acute kidney injury (Study II)

Utilizing Danish pCr data, we extend findings from smaller studies on selected patient populations by providing data on the association between AKI and changes in eGFR in population-based cohorts. In the cohort with a baseline eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m², we found a median difference in eGFR level of -2.2 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, -9.2 to 4.3) from before to after AKI. D'Hoore et al.¹¹⁹ also reported a drop in eGFR level from before to after AKI among 331 patients with CKD. However, they found a difference in eGFR level of -11 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, -22 to 0).¹¹⁹ In our study, the size of the absolute drop in eGFR level decreased

with baseline eGFR. This may explain some of the disparity between our findings and the findings of D'Hoore et al.¹¹⁹ as their cohort had a higher baseline eGFR than our cohort (median eGFR 46 ml/min/1.73 m² versus 55 ml/min/1.73 m²). Nonetheless, findings on changes in eGFR level from studies including patients with CKD generally lack consistency and other studies reported no change¹²¹ or even a rise in eGFR level following AKI.¹¹⁷

In addition to the drop in eGFR level, we found a lower rate of eGFR decline after AKI compared with before among patients with a baseline eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m². Similarly, D'hoore et al.¹¹⁹ reported a change from a median decline of 5 ml/min/1.73 m²/2.5 years (IQR, 0-13) before AKI to 1 ml/min/1.73 m²/2.5 years (IQR, 2-6) after AKI in patients with CKD. However, based on a similar cohort of patients with CKD, an American study¹²¹ reported no changes in eGFR from one year before to five years after AKI, while other studies^{117,118} reported a decrease in eGFR slope from before to after AKI.

To our knowledge, we are the first to report on changes in eGFR level and eGFR slope from before to after AKI in a population-based cohort of patients with a baseline eGFR ≥ 60 ml/min/1.73 m². We found a drop in eGFR of -5.6 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, -16.1 to 1.8) equivalent to a relative change in eGFR level of -6.1% (IQR, -18.5 to 2.1). In comparison, a study on US veterans reported a drop in eGFR level of approximately 10% following AKI.¹²¹ Similarly, median eGFR dropped from 73 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 51-87) before admission to 61 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 37-96) at discharge in a cohort of ICU patients with stage 2-3 AKI.¹¹⁵ However, in the same study, patients with stage 1 AKI experienced an increase in median eGFR from 73 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 50-82) to 78 ml/min/1.73 m² (IQR, 56-107) during the same period.¹¹⁵

Besides the drop in eGFR level, we found a slightly higher rate of eGFR decline after AKI compared with before. Similar findings were reported for stage 2-3 AKI among patients undergoing coronary angiography with a post-angiography eGFR <90 ml/min/1.73 m², while patients with stage 1 AKI had similar rates of eGFR decline before and after AKI.¹²⁰ Other studies including patients without CKD compared slopes among different stages of AKI or different causes of AKI but did not include information on eGFR slope before AKI.^{115,116}

Several factors could contribute to the variation in the reported associations between AKI and changes in eGFR. Whereas we defined population-based cohorts by baseline eGFR level and required repeated pCr tests before and after AKI, other studies used specific patient cohorts,^{115,116,120} cohorts of CKD patients,¹¹⁷⁻¹¹⁹ relied on diagnosis codes for identification of AKI,¹²¹ or did not require sCr tests following AKI.^{117,118,121} Differences in study populations, including age, comorbidities, and baseline eGFR, which are known to be associated with the risk of CKD could explain some of the variation in outcomes.^{4,48} Another important factor could be discrepancies in the definitions of changes in eGFR. While we examined changes in both

eGFR level and eGFR slope some studies only examined changes in eGFR level¹²¹ or eGFR slope¹¹⁸ and for those studying both, various definitions and statistical approaches were applied.^{115-117,119,120} In addition, findings might be influenced by differences in mortality following AKI, which is discussed separately in the Methodological considerations section below.

6.2.3 Regional variation in incidence and prognosis of acute kidney injury (Study III)

Regional variation in AKI incidence has been examined in studies from the UK,^{124,125,127} Peru,¹²³ USA,¹²⁹ and China.^{126,128} Findings from these studies were heterogeneous with some reporting little or no variation in regional AKI incidence¹²⁵⁻¹²⁸ and others reporting substantial variation.^{123,124,129} This could reflect actual differences in regional variation of AKI, which is not unlikely given the differences in demographics and healthcare systems across the countries where these studies were performed. In countries that span a vast geographical area, variation could also be a consequence of differences in climate and local customs, which is reflected by the differences in causes of AKI reported by Wang et al.¹²⁶ Nonetheless, the inconsistency in findings could also be related to differences in the methods used for examining AKI incidence. Regional differences in access to hospitals and registration practices could bias studies restricting to hospitalized patients¹²⁶⁻¹²⁹ or using diagnosis codes of AKI.¹²³ Of note, two recent studies from the UK showed conflicting results.^{124,125} The studies used similar pCr-based AKI definitions; however, one study reported regional variation across six counties of Ireland,¹²⁴ while the other found similar rates of AKI in three UK regions.¹²⁵ The incongruent findings might be related to methodological differences as Stack et al.¹²⁴ examined the AKI incidence among individuals with a prior pCr test, while Sawhney et al.¹²⁵ examined the incidence among residents using census statistics. However, this may also suggest that even countries sharing comparable healthcare systems and situated in the same geographical region of the world can exhibit dissimilarities with regard to variation in AKI incidence. Nonetheless, Sawhney et al.¹²⁵ used an approach similar to ours and reported AKI incidence rates similar to the rates found in our study.

To our knowledge, we are the first to examine regional variation in CKD and clinical and biochemical followup after AKI. However, four of the studies examining regional variation in AKI incidence also assessed mortality rates among patients with AKI.¹²⁶⁻¹²⁹ In contrast to our findings, most studies reported substantial variation in mortality following AKI. Most prominently, Wang et al.,¹²⁶ reported a nearly two-fold difference in hospital mortality rates across tertiles of northern latitude in China. Equivalent to the reported variation in AKI incidence, reported differences in mortality following AKI could reflect actual differences in mortality but might be biased by the methodological limitations described above. Furthermore, most studies were descriptive and did not account for differences in patient characteristics across regions.^{126,128,129} Yet, even

after accounting for differences in demographics and comorbidities, Kolhe et al.¹²⁷ reported considerable variation in mortality after KRT-requiring AKI across nine English regions, which may reflect disparities in the quality of care for patients with KRT-requiring AKI.

6.2.4 Acute kidney injury duration and risks of chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease (Study IV)

Our study is the first to implement both the KDIGO creatinine criteria for defining AKI and the ADQI consensus definition of AKI duration to examine the long-term associations between AKI duration and CKD and CVD in a population-based cohort. Previous studies have examined the association between AKI duration and CKD; however, most did not use fixed intervals of AKI duration and none have used the full ADQI definition. Similar to our findings, others have reported that AKI duration beyond seven days was associated with an increased rate of CKD when compared with a duration of less than seven days.^{138,140,143} Additionally, our overall finding of higher rates of CKD with increasing AKI duration is consistent with findings from studies in US veterans.^{141,145} Heung et al.¹⁴⁵ found a gradual increase in 1-year risks of CKD with increasing AKI duration (≤ 2 , 3-10, and >10 days) when comparing with patients without AKI. Similarly, Siew et al.¹⁴¹ found that increasing AKI duration (5-10, 11-30, 31-90 days) was associated with gradually higher rates of a sustained decline in eGFR or kidney failure when compared with an AKI duration of 1-4 days. In contrast to these findings, others have reported little or no association between AKI duration and CKD.^{139,149} Ikizler et al.¹³⁹ performed a prospective matched cohort study including 769 hospitalized patients with AKI and 769 matched patients without AKI. All categories of AKI duration (\leq 1, 2-3, 4-6, >6 days) were associated with higher rates of CKD compared with no AKI. Yet, they did not find a clear increment in rates of CKD with increasing AKI duration. However, this was not the primary outcome of the study and the estimates lacked precision due to the small study population. Similarly, van Kuijk et al.¹⁴⁹ did not find a difference in risks of CKD when comparing durations of decline in kidney function of more or less than three days. However, they defined a decline in kidney function as a decline of >10% from baseline eGFR. In a sensitivity analysis, they examined declines in eGFR of >20%, >30%, >40%, and >50%. Declines in eGFR lasting for less than three days yielded similar risks of CKD, independent of the size of the decline, while the risks of CKD increased gradually for >10%, >20%, and >30% declines in eGFR lasting beyond three days. This could indicate that the duration of decline in eGFR is of lesser importance in very mild cases of decline in kidney function.

We did not find an association between AKI duration and overall rates of CVD, but rates of heart failure were slightly higher for persistent AKI and AKD compared with rapid reversal AKI, while rates of ischemic heart disease were higher for AKD than for rapid reversal AKI. In general, there is a scarcity of studies

examining the association between AKI duration and CVD using fixed intervals for defining AKI duration. However, AKI persisting until discharge has been associated with higher rates of heart failure in patients with myocardial infarction,⁵⁴ human immunodeficiency virus,¹⁴⁸ or in intensive care.¹⁴⁷ Similarly, Ikizler et al.¹³⁹ observed higher rates of heart failure if AKI persisted for more than one day and especially if the duration exceeded six days when compared with no AKI. In addition, Gammelager et al.¹⁴⁷ and Choi et al.¹⁴⁸ found higher rates of myocardial infarction and central and peripheral arterial disease, respectively, among patients with stage 2-3 AKI lasting beyond discharge compared with patients with recovery of kidney function before discharge.

6.3 Methodological considerations

The studies included in this dissertation are observational (non-experimental) cohort studies. A cohort is a group of individuals who share a common trait or event and are followed over time.¹⁷³ In addition to cohorts of patients with AKI (Studies II-IV), we examined laboratory database coverage (Study I) and AKI incidence (Study III) using cohorts of Danish residents. Register-based cohort studies have apparent advantages such as the inclusion of a large number of patients, which increases precision and allows for the study of rare events in a cost-effective setting.¹⁷³ Additionally, observational studies may be the only option for answering certain research questions, e.g., when examining exposures that would be unethical in experimental designs. However, the use of medical databases not designed for research comes with limitations that need to be considered. The accuracy or internal validity of observational studies pertains to the soundness of study results within the source population (i.e., the population from which the study population was sampled), while external validity describes the applicability of results outside the source population.¹⁷³ The internal validity may be undermined by random and systematic error. Random error refers to the statistical precision of the estimates. Systematic error covers selection bias, information bias, and confounding.¹⁷³ These concepts will be described briefly and considered in relation to Studies I-IV in the following sections.

6.3.1 Selection bias

Selection bias arises when the association between exposure and outcome in the study population is systematically different from that of the source population.¹⁷³ This can be caused by a selection of participants entering the study or differences in those completing the study and those lost to follow-up. For all studies, we used population-based laboratory databases, which enables a uniform collection of pCr test

results from Danish residents. In addition, we used nationwide, population-based registries with complete follow-up, which is possible due to all Danish residents being registered in the CRS.^{153,155}

In Study II, the study population included patients with three or more pCr tests, spanning at least 90 days, both before and after AKI. The requirement for multiple pCr tests spanning a notable duration of time was inspired by previous studies applying similar methods.^{185,186} This approach has been recommended to increase the confidence of the estimates by reducing variation stemming from a limited number of pCr tests drawn in close temporal proximity.¹⁸⁷ While pCr is measured routinely in most patients having a blood sample, these requirements induce a risk of selection bias as some patients with AKI are less likely to be included in the study population, e.g., patients dying shortly after AKI. The included cohort had a lower median age and was generally more comorbid and used more prescription drugs than the overall cohort of patients with AKI. Additionally, the 1-year mortality was 3% among included patients and 33% among all patients with AKI. As the severity of AKI and the rate of eGFR decline are associated with the risk of death, it could be speculated that patients with the most pronounced changes in eGFR might, to an extent less than other patients, have survived to be included in the study.^{27,115,188} To examine the selection imposed by requiring three or more pCr tests before and after AKI, we performed a sensitivity analysis including patients with two or more pCr tests before and after AKI. The results of this analysis were consistent with the main analysis. However, as for the main analysis, patients still needed to survive to have repeated pCr tests following AKI. Therefore, findings from this study pertain to patients, who have repeated outpatient pCr tests before and after AKI.

In Study IV, we included patients with an outpatient baseline pCr test before AKI and a pCr test during the seven days after AKI onset to allow for assessment of AKI duration. Thereby, we induced a selection of patients with available pCr tests. However, when comparing all patients with AKI to those included in the study, we did not find substantial differences in patient characteristics. The most noticeable differences were related to location and setting, with a higher proportion of included patients experiencing AKI during hospitalization and in relation to surgery compared with all patients with AKI. This was likely due to structural differences with a higher availability of pCr tests during hospitalization and after surgery. Therefore, we would not expect a substantial difference in the association between AKI duration and CKD and CVD between the included patients and those not included.

6.3.2 Information bias

Erroneous classification of exposures and outcomes can cause information bias.¹⁷³ In relation to categorical variables, information bias is referred to as misclassification. Misclassification can be non-differential if it is

only related to either exposure or outcome and differential if it is related to both. Non-differential misclassification of a dichotomous variable will bias the association towards the null, while non-differential misclassification of a categorical variable with more than two levels and differential misclassification can cause bias both towards and away from the null.¹⁷³

6.3.2.1 Misclassification of exposure

Studies I, II, and III used calendar time, time before and after AKI, and region of residence as exposures, respectively. Every entry into the laboratory databases is automatically labeled with a date and time, reducing the risk of misclassification. Similarly, detailed information on the place of residence is recorded in the CRS.¹⁵⁵

In Study IV, the exposure was AKI duration. To enable categorization of AKI duration, we required information on baseline pCr level and one or more pCr tests in the seven days following AKI. However, rapid reversal AKI could be misclassified as persistent AKI due to a lack of testing within the first two days of AKI. Nonetheless, the risk of misclassification is considered to be low as the median number of tests in the cohort during the seven days after AKI onset was 4 (IQR, 2-6) and 83% of all patients had a test within the first two days.

6.3.2.2 Misclassification of outcomes

In Study I, we defined the time of complete municipal coverage by visual inspection of testing frequencies. Although most municipalities had a distinct transition from incomplete to complete this induces a risk of misclassification due to subjectivity. Therefore, we also applied a quantitative measure defining the time of complete coverage as the month in, and after, which ≥8% of patients with diabetes had a monthly pCr test (equivalent to when all patients with diabetes had at least one pCr test each year, which reflects current testing guidelines in Denmark¹⁶⁶⁻¹⁷⁰). For most municipalities, the quantitative measure was fulfilled before the time of complete coverage defined by the visual inspection. Moreover, current diabetes guidelines recommend more regular biochemical testing than in the 1990s when reporting to LABKA started. In addition, full adherence to the guidelines cannot be expected as other biochemical tests recommended to be performed annually, such as plasma low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and urine albumin concentration, were only performed in 84% and 78% of patients with diabetes in 2020-2021, respectively.^{189,190} Consequently, both the visual and the quantitative assessment of complete coverage are likely to be conservative. Therefore, we may have misclassified municipalities as incomplete when coverage was complete. This comes at the price of slightly shorter follow-up but ensures that coverage is in fact complete and that changes in coverage is not interfering with findings, e.g., when studying temporal changes in kidney diseases.

In Study II, we evaluated changes in eGFR from before to after AKI. Acute illness may affect the level of pCr due to changes in muscle mass and by inducing glomerular hyperfiltration.^{91,108,191,192} To minimize overestimation of eGFR due to the effect of acute illness, we restricted to pCr tests from more than 90 days after AKI onset. However, if, e.g., a loss of muscle mass or glomerular hyperfiltration persists, this would cause an overestimation of eGFR after AKI, making our estimated reductions in eGFR level conservative.

In Study III, we examined rates of AKI across the Danish regions defining AKI by the KDIGO creatinine criteria.¹ As an outpatient baseline pCr level was not available for all residents, there is a risk of underestimating the rate of AKI. However, due to the generally high availability of pCr tests in 2017 and the 48-hour and 7-day criteria, we would expect the number of AKIs missed due to missing information on baseline pCr level to be low.

In Studies III and IV, we examined the incidence of CKD following AKI. CKD was defined using a combination of pCr tests, inpatient and outpatient hospital diagnosis codes, and hospital procedure codes.¹⁶² As for the diagnosis and procedure codes, the accuracy of the DNPR is considered to be high and the PPV of moderate to severe renal disease is 100% (95% CI, 92.9-100).^{154,164} Furthermore, the assessment of pCr after AKI was similar across regions (Study III) and AKI duration groups (Study IV). As the majority of studies on CKD, we focused on GFR categories and did not include information on albuminuria.¹⁹³ A recent Danish study showed that albuminuria testing was infrequent and that combining tests for albuminuria with tests for pCr only increased estimates of CKD prevalence slightly when compared with the use of pCr tests alone.¹⁹⁴ Nonetheless, this may have led to an underestimation of rates of CKD in Studies III and IV.

In Study IV, we examined the risk of CVD following AKI. CVD included atrial fibrillation and flutter, ischemic heart disease, heart failure, stroke, and hypertension defined by inpatient and outpatient hospital diagnosis codes. In general, the PPVs of CVD diagnoses recorded in the DNPR codes are high.^{164,195-200} We were not able to identify studies that examined the sensitivity of diagnosis codes for atrial fibrillation or flutter, ischemic heart disease, or hypertension. However, sensitivities of 29% for heart failure and 58% for stroke have been reported.^{199,201} In our studies, the low sensitivity could lead to an underestimation of the risks of the outcomes. Furthermore, the duration of AKI could be associated with the recording of CVD diagnoses as patients with a long AKI duration may have more contacts with the healthcare system in the period following AKI onset than patients with a short AKI duration. This difference in surveillance following AKI onset the misclassification of CVD could be related to AKI duration. Therefore, we chose to

postpone the start of follow-up to day 90 after AKI. Even so, remains possible that differences in surveillance persisted after this point in time. However, we only found increased rates of heart failure and ischemic heart disease with increasing AKI duration and not increased rates of atrial fibrillation and flutter, stroke, and hypertension, which could also have been more frequently diagnosed among patients with long AKI duration if the association was driven by general differences in surveillance. Therefore, we do not expect the associations between AKI duration and heart failure and ischemic heart disease to be solely due to differences in surveillance.

6.3.3 Confounding

Confounding refers to a distortion of the measure of effect between an exposure and an outcome and can arise in settings where exposed and unexposed patients differ with regard to covariates that affect the outcome.^{173,202} An example of a confounding factor could be hypertension when examining if the duration of AKI is associated with the risk of CKD. Hypertension is a well-established risk factor for CKD and its prevalence varied across AKI duration groups in Study IV. If unaccounted for, this could lead to a biased estimation of the causal relationship between AKI duration and CKD. Therefore, confounding needs to be accounted for when examining the causal effect of an exposure on an outcome in observational studies. This can be done by design (by, e.g., restriction or matching) or in the analyses (by, e.g., standardization, stratification, or multivariable regression). Covariates for confounder adjustment were identified using a disjunctive cause criterion, i.e., pre-exposure covariates that were considered a cause of the exposure, outcome, or both.¹⁷³

In all studies, we performed stratified analyses, e.g., by sex and age when assessing pCr testing frequencies (Study I), or by sex, age, and AKI stage when examining the exposure-outcome association (Studies II-IV). In Study III, we controlled for confounding by age and sex across regions and municipality categories by direct standardization. Moreover, to control for differences in, e.g., baseline eGFR, morbidity, and prescription drug use, we adjusted regression analyses for confounders (Studies III and IV). Nonetheless, adjusted measures of effect might still suffer from uncontrolled confounding. Uncontrolled confounding due to misclassified confounders, unmeasured confounding due to missing information, and unknown confounding from unidentified confounders. We obtained information on confounders from several registers including the DNPR, the NPR, and the laboratory databases. As discussed above, the sensitivity and specificity of diseases in the DNPR vary. Especially conditions mainly treated in primary care, such as diabetes, are at risk of being misclassified in the DNPR and adjustment for such confounders could result in residual confounding.²⁰³ To minimize the risk of residual confounding due

to misclassification when adjusting for diabetes and kidney disease, we included information on antidiabetic treatment from the NPR and on eGFR from the laboratory databases.²⁰⁴

6.3.4 Random error

Random error pertains to the statistical precision of estimates, which is affected by random variation or chance.¹⁷³ The level of random error can be minimized by increasing the size of the study population. The use of population-based registries allowed us to identify large cohorts of patients with AKI, which enabled a high statistical precision and limited the role of random error. However, when stratifying analyses or studying rare outcomes, e.g., when examining regional variation in outpatient contact with a nephrology department after KRT-requiring AKI (Study III), the precision fell making the result more susceptible to random error.

In Studies III and IV, we evaluated random error by supplementing point estimates with a 95% CI and refrained from using statistical significance testing in agreement with current guidelines and recommendations.^{173,205,206} In Study II, we examined continuous outcomes of eGFR levels and eGFR slopes and changes in these. In line with the descriptive purpose of the study and the non-normal distribution of these outcomes, we chose to present outcomes as medians with IQRs, which also illustrated the variation in outcomes within the study population.

6.3.5 Additional considerations

In Study II, we used repeated measures of pCr to determine eGFR levels and eGFR slopes, which enabled us to describe changes in eGFR from before to after AKI. We accounted for the clustering of data by performing linear regressions for each patient before and after AKI. Furthermore, the use of individual linear regressions eliminated the problem of variation in the number of pCr tests as each patient only contributed with summary statics in the form of eGFR levels, eGFR slopes, and differences in these. Finally, confounders within each subgroup were balanced at the time of AKI as the eGFR slopes and eGFR levels before and after AKI were compared on an individual-level. The application and use of this method in studies of changes in kidney function is well-established and has a close resemblance with clinical practices, where a physician evaluates a patient's change in kidney function by comparing current and prior tests.^{187,207} Another method for handling clustered data is the use of random effects (mixed) models.^{171,187,207} These models handle repeated measurement data by accounting for the level of clustering in the model. This method has become increasingly popular in kidney research due to advantages such as the possibility of comparing subgroups through confounder adjustment and no requirement for a specific

number of observations.^{187,207} For these reasons, we also fitted a mixed model. However, we were unable to satisfy the assumption of homoscedasticity as the residuals were not constant across the range of predicted values. Therefore, we did not include the results from the mixed model in Study II. Similar concerns with mixed model assumptions in studies of kidney function have previously been expressed.¹⁸⁵

If applicable, a mixed model would have allowed for the inclusion of patients with fewer pCr tests. However, it would not have eliminated selection bias. We would still only be able to include information on eGFR from patients who survived beyond 90 days after AKI onset and had one or more outpatient pCr tests. This is pivotal to ensure that only tests performed during a steady state after the transition from an acute to a chronic event are included. Advanced models capable of handling the informative censoring of death have been developed; however, as these combine random effects models with survival models, assumptions for both models would still need to be fulfilled, which hindered the application in Study II.²⁰⁸

6.3.6 Generalizability and transportability

Generalizability reflects the extent to which estimates from a study can be applied to the source population, while transportability refers to whether the estimates can be applied to an external population, e.g., patients with AKI in another country.¹⁷³ The studies included in this dissertation are all populationbased cohort studies. In Study II, analyses were restricted to patients with repeated pCr tests before and after AKI. The included population was younger, more comorbid, and had a lower 1-year mortality rate than the overall cohort of patients with AKI. The inclusion of patients surviving to have repeated pCr tests following AKI means that results may not be generalizable to the overall population of patients with AKI. However, we believe that these results are generalizable to the clinically relevant cohort of patients who survive the initial event and for whom long-term changes in kidney function are of importance. Furthermore, results were robust when expanding the study population to patients with two or more pCr tests before and after AKI.

In Study IV, we included patients with AKI who had an outpatient baseline pCr test within the prior year and assessment of AKI duration within seven days following AKI onset. Characteristics of the included patients and all patients with AKI were comparable overall and we would not expect the association between AKI duration and outcomes of CVD and CKD to differ from that of patients without a pCr test within the prior year.

With the limitations above in mind, we would expect our results to be transportable to other countries with similar demographics and healthcare systems. For example, in Study III, we used the KDIGO creatinine criteria and precise estimates of population sizes and found similar rates of AKI incidence as a UK study
using similar definitions and data.¹²⁵ In addition, our findings in Study IV corroborate findings on the association between AKI duration and risks of CKD and CVD from previous smaller studies on selected patient populations.

7. Conclusions

Based on the four studies included in this dissertation, we conclude that:

- 1) Clinical care pCr data from the Danish laboratory databases, LABKA and the RLRR, provide long follow-up and nationwide coverage within a population-based setting making it a valuable resource for population-based studies on kidney disease epidemiology. Reflective of the clinical care setting, the pCr-tested individuals were older and more comorbid than the general population. Nonetheless, pCr testing was frequently performed in recent years with more than one-third of Danish residents having at least one test annually. The time of complete geographical coverage varied substantially between municipalities and regions. This could be of importance, e.g., if studying temporal trends in AKI and CKD and needs to be considered when designing studies based on these data.
- 2) AKI was consistently associated with a sustained reduction in eGFR level in patients with repeated outpatient pCr tests before and after AKI. Moreover, AKI was associated with a higher rate of eGFR decline after AKI compared with before in patients with a baseline eGFR ≥60 ml/min/1.73 m². These findings corroborate current guidelines recommending evaluation of kidney function after AKI. In addition, this emphasizes that the association between AKI and changes in eGFR extend beyond the immediate phase. Thus, even patients with only a minor drop in eGFR level are at risk of long-term changes in kidney function.
- 3) Regional differences in AKI incidence rates were minor after accounting for differences in age and sex distributions of the underlying populations. The mortality after AKI was similar across regions, while the rates of CKD and nephrology follow-up varied. The similar incidence rates of AKI found across regions in a universal healthcare system are encouraging; however, the variation in rates of CKD and nephrology follow-up after AKI warrants attention on the quality of care after AKI.
- 4) The duration of AKI was associated with long-term risks and rates of CKD and kidney failure. AKI duration was not associated with overall CVD. Nevertheless, there was a slight rise in rates of ischemic heart disease and heart failure with increasing AKI duration. The gradual increase in risks of CKD and kidney failure with increasing AKI duration illustrates the potential for using AKI duration as a risk marker when planning nephrology follow-up after AKI.

8

8. Future perspectives

Besides describing the potential of utilizing Danish pCr data for studying kidney diseases in a populationbased setting, the studies in this PhD dissertation add to the knowledge on the association between AKI and changes in eGFR, regional variation in AKI incidence, prognosis and follow-up, and the association between AKI duration and prognosis.

A pivotal step in improving care for AKI is to increase clinical awareness of the condition. All health professionals should be able to recognize AKI and identify patients at increased risk of AKI. This may be aided by electronic warning systems and the use of novel biomarkers. The integration of electronic warning systems with AKI care bundles has shown promising results.^{73,74} Data from the Danish registries, including the laboratory databases, could be used for validation of such warning systems in the Danish healthcare setting before implementation in the electronic health record system.

To facilitate a further understanding of the association between AKI and changes in eGFR, it would be desirable to develop consensus definitions for the evaluation of changes in eGFR. The current lack of generally agreed definitions complicates comparisons across studies and while choices for defining changes in eGFR might be arbitrary, the formulation of a common definition could stimulate the development of the field and foster redefined definitions similar to the RIFLE, AKIN, and KIDIGO definitions for AKI.

Identification of modifiable prognostic factors is essential for translating knowledge on variation in AKI incidence and prognosis into improved treatment of patients. A further examination of the causes for variation in the development of CKD following AKI across the Danish regions could address the effectiveness of introducing kidney protecting initiatives covering both primary care and hospital settings.

Further studies examining whether AKI-directed interventions, such as the AKI care bundles, can modify the occurrence of kidney and cardiovascular adverse outcomes are warranted. Similar to the recent work on the timing of KRT and the use of remote ischemic preconditioning in AKI,²⁰⁹⁻²¹² interventional studies are central for understanding whether targeted treatments can limit and prevent progression of AKI duration and severity and whether this changes the prognosis.

9. Summary

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is a common and serious condition associated with increased morbidity and mortality. Thus, AKI places a substantial burden on the healthcare system, which is expected to increase in the coming decades. On this basis, this PhD dissertation examined the occurrence and prognosis of AKI in Denmark using population-based registries. We assessed the plasma creatinine (pCr) data from the regional Clinical Laboratory Information System Research Database (LABKA) and the nationwide Register of Laboratory Results for Research (RLRR) (Study I), changes in kidney function from before to after AKI (Study II), regional variation in AKI incidence and prognosis (Study III), and the association between AKI duration and chronic kidney disease (CKD) and cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Study IV).

In Study I, we found that during 1990-2018, LABKA and the RLRR included more than 61 million pCr tests from 4.6 million individuals with complete nationwide coverage from October 2015. During 2016-2018, more than one-third of Danish residents had a pCr test each year. Tested individuals were more females, older, and had more comorbidities than the general population.

In Study II, we found a drop in estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) level from before to after AKI in patients with repeated outpatient pCr tests. Furthermore, AKI was associated with a higher rate of eGFR decline among patients with baseline eGFR \geq 60 ml/min/1.73 m², while a lower rate of eGFR decline was found in patients with baseline eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m².

In Study III, we found regional variation in AKI incidence, which was, in part, explained by differences in demographics across the Danish regions. Mortality after AKI was similar; however CKD, outpatient nephrology contact, and biochemical follow-up varied across regions.

In Study IV, we found higher rates of CKD and kidney failure with increasing AKI duration. AKI duration was not associated with overall CVD, but increasing AKI duration was associated with slightly higher rates of ischemic heart disease and heart failure.

In conclusion, we showed that Danish laboratory databases hold longitudinal and nationwide pCr data making them an important source of information for studies on kidney diseases. Moreover, we found regional variation in CKD and follow-up after AKI. Finally, we showed that AKI is associated with long-term changes in eGFR and that AKI duration is associated with increased risks of CKD and subgroups of CVDs.

10. Dansk resumé

10

Akut nyrepåvirkning (ANP) er en hyppigt forekommende og alvorlig tilstand associeret med øget morbiditet og mortalitet. ANP udgør derfor en betydelig belastning for sundhedsvæsenet, som forventes at stige i de kommende år. På den baggrund har vi i denne ph.d.-afhandling undersøgt forekomsten af og prognosen for ANP i Danmark ved brug af populationsbaserede registre. Vi har undersøgt registreringen af plasma kreatinin (pKr) tests i det regionale laboratorieinformationssystem, LABKA, og den landsdækkende Laboratoriedatabasens Forskertabel (Studie I), ændringer i nyrefunktion fra før til efter ANP (Studie II), regional variation i ANP incidens og prognose (Studie III) og associationen mellem varigheden af ANP og kronisk nyresvigt samt hjerte-kar-sygdom (Studie IV).

I Studie I fandt vi, at LABKA og Laboratoriedatabasens Forskertabel for perioden 1990-2018 indeholder svar på mere end 61 millioner pKr-tests fra 4,6 millioner individer med komplet landsdækkende indrapportering fra oktober 2015. I 2016-2018 fik mere end en tredjedel af alle danskere foretaget en eller flere pKr-tests hvert år. De testede individer var oftere kvinder, samt ældre og mere komorbide end baggrundsbefolkningen.

I Studie II fandt vi et fald i niveauet af estimeret glomerulær filtrationshastighed (eGFR) fra før til efter ANP blandt patienter med gentagne pKr-tests fra ikke-akutte kontakter med sundhedsvæsenet. Derudover var der efter ANP et større årligt fald i eGFR for patienter med baseline eGFR ≥60 ml/min/1.73 m², men et mindre årligt fald i eGFR for patienter med baseline eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m² sammenlignet med før ANP.

I Studie III fandt vi regional variation i incidensen af ANP, som var delvist forklaret af forskelle i demografien på tværs af de danske regioner. Mortaliteten efter ANP var sammenlignelig, mens udvikling af kronisk nyresvigt, biokemisk opfølgning, og ambulante kontakter til nefrologiske afdelinger varierede på tværs af regioner.

I Studie IV fandt vi, at varigheden af ANP har betydning for udvikling af kronisk nyresvigt og terminal nyresvigt. Generelt set var der ikke sammenhæng mellem varigheden af ANP og udvikling af hjerte-karsygdom, men varigheden af ANP havde betydning for udvikling af iskæmisk hjertesygdom og hjertesvigt.

Med denne afhandling har vi vist, at danske laboratoriedatabaser indeholder pKr-data med både langvarig og landsdækkende dækning, hvilket gør dem til en værdifuld ressource for studier af nyresygdomme. Vi fandt regional variation i kronisk nyresvigt og opfølgning efter ANP. Desuden har vi vist, at ANP er associeret med varige ændringer i eGFR, og at varigheden af ANP er associeret med udvikling af kronisk nyresvigt og visse hjerte-kar-sygdomme.

11. References

- 1. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Acute Kidney Injury Work Group. KDIGO Clinical Practice Guideline for Acute Kidney Injury. *Kidney international.*, Suppl. 2012; 2: 1–138.
- 2. Bellomo R, Kellum JA, Ronco C. Acute kidney injury. *Lancet*. Aug 25 2012;380(9843):756-66. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61454-2
- 3. Lewington AJ, Cerda J, Mehta RL. Raising awareness of acute kidney injury: a global perspective of a silent killer. *Kidney international*. Sep 2013;84(3):457-67. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.153
- 4. Chawla LS, Kimmel PL. Acute kidney injury and chronic kidney disease: an integrated clinical syndrome. *Kidney international*. Sep 2012;82(5):516-24. doi:10.1038/ki.2012.208
- 5. Murugan R, Kellum JA. Acute kidney injury: what's the prognosis? *Nature reviews Nephrology*. Apr 2011;7(4):209-17. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2011.13
- 6. Rewa O, Bagshaw SM. Acute kidney injury-epidemiology, outcomes and economics. *Nature reviews Nephrology*. Apr 2014;10(4):193-207. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2013.282
- 7. Kam Tao Li P, Burdmann EA, Mehta RL, World Kidney Day Steering C. Acute kidney injury: Global health alert. *J Nephropathol*. Apr 2013;2(2):90-7. doi:10.12860/JNP.2013.15
- 8. Hsu RK, McCulloch CE, Dudley RA, Lo LJ, Hsu CY. Temporal changes in incidence of dialysis-requiring AKI. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. Jan 2013;24(1):37-42. doi:10.1681/ASN.2012080800
- 9. Sawhney S, Fraser SD. Epidemiology of AKI: Utilizing Large Databases to Determine the Burden of AKI. *Advances in chronic kidney disease*. Jul 2017;24(4):194-204. doi:10.1053/j.ackd.2017.05.001
- 10. Abebe A, Kumela K, Belay M, Kebede B, Wobie Y. Mortality and predictors of acute kidney injury in adults: a hospital-based prospective observational study. *Sci Rep.* Aug 2 2021;11(1):15672. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-94946-3
- 11. Marketos SG, Eftychiadis AG, Diamandopoulos A. Acute renal failure according to ancient Greek and Byzantine medical writers. *J R Soc Med*. May 1993;86(5):290-3.
- 12. Heberden W. *Commentaries on the History and Cure of Diseases*. T. Payne; 1802.
- 13. Bywaters EG, Beall D. Crush Injuries with Impairment of Renal Function. *Br Med J*. Mar 22 1941;1(4185):427-32. doi:10.1136/bmj.1.4185.427
- 14. Smith HW. *The kidney: structure and function in health and disease*. Oxford University Press, USA; 1951.
- 15. Bellomo R, Kellum J, Ronco C. Acute renal failure: time for consensus. *Intensive Care Med*. Nov 2001;27(11):1685-8. doi:10.1007/s00134-001-1120-6
- 16. Bellomo R, Ronco C, Kellum JA, Mehta RL, Palevsky P, Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative w. Acute renal failure definition, outcome measures, animal models, fluid therapy and information technology

needs: the Second International Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) Group. *Critical care (London, England)*. Aug 2004;8(4):R204-12. doi:10.1186/cc2872

- 17. Praught ML, Shlipak MG. Are small changes in serum creatinine an important risk factor? *Current opinion in nephrology and hypertension*. May 2005;14(3):265-70. doi:10.1097/01.mnh.0000165894.90748.72
- Chertow GM, Burdick E, Honour M, Bonventre JV, Bates DW. Acute kidney injury, mortality, length of stay, and costs in hospitalized patients. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. Nov 2005;16(11):3365-70. doi:10.1681/ASN.2004090740
- 19. Mehta RL, Kellum JA, Shah SV, et al. Acute Kidney Injury Network: report of an initiative to improve outcomes in acute kidney injury. *Critical care (London, England)*. 2007/03/01 2007;11(2):R31. doi:10.1186/cc5713
- 20. Joannidis M, Metnitz B, Bauer P, et al. Acute kidney injury in critically ill patients classified by AKIN versus RIFLE using the SAPS 3 database. *Intensive Care Med*. Oct 2009;35(10):1692-702. doi:10.1007/s00134-009-1530-4
- 21. Bagshaw SM, Zappitelli M, Chawla LS. Novel biomarkers of AKI: the challenges of progress 'Amid the noise and the haste'. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association European Renal Association*. Feb 2013;28(2):235-8. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfs595
- 22. McCullough PA, Bouchard J, Waikar SS, et al. Implementation of novel biomarkers in the diagnosis, prognosis, and management of acute kidney injury: executive summary from the tenth consensus conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI). *Contrib Nephrol*. 2013;182:5-12. doi:10.1159/000349962
- 23. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). KDIGO Announce Update to AKI Guideline. Accessed March 6, 2023.
- 24. Gammelager H. *Prognosis after acute kidney injury among intensive care patients*. [Dissertation]. Accra: Aarhus University; 2013.
- 25. Hoste EA, Schurgers M. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury: how big is the problem? *Critical care medicine*. Apr 2008;36(4 Suppl):S146-51. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e318168c590
- 26. Goldstein SL, Jaber BL, Faubel S, Chawla LS. AKI transition of care: a potential opportunity to detect and prevent CKD. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Mar 2013;8(3):476-83. doi:10.2215/cjn.12101112
- 27. Susantitaphong P, Cruz DN, Cerda J, et al. World incidence of AKI: a meta-analysis. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Sep 2013;8(9):1482-93. doi:10.2215/CJN.00710113
- Collaboration NCDRF. Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 populationbased studies with 4.4 million participants. *Lancet*. Apr 9 2016;387(10027):1513-1530. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00618-8
- 29. United Nations. *World Population Ageing 2019 Highlights*. United Nations; 2019.

- 30. Siew ED, Davenport A. The growth of acute kidney injury: a rising tide or just closer attention to detail? *Kidney international*. Jan 2015;87(1):46-61. doi:10.1038/ki.2014.293
- 31. Amin AP, Salisbury AC, McCullough PA, et al. Trends in the incidence of acute kidney injury in patients hospitalized with acute myocardial infarction. *Archives of internal medicine*. Feb 13 2012;172(3):246-53. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2011.1202
- 32. Liangos O, Wald R, O'Bell JW, Price L, Pereira BJ, Jaber BL. Epidemiology and outcomes of acute renal failure in hospitalized patients: a national survey. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Jan 2006;1(1):43-51. doi:10.2215/CJN.00220605
- Hodgson LE, Sarnowski A, Roderick PJ, Dimitrov BD, Venn RM, Forni LG. Systematic review of prognostic prediction models for acute kidney injury (AKI) in general hospital populations. *BMJ open*. Sep 27 2017;7(9):e016591. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016591
- 34. Grams ME, Sang Y, Ballew SH, et al. A Meta-analysis of the Association of Estimated GFR, Albuminuria, Age, Race, and Sex With Acute Kidney Injury. *American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. Oct 2015;66(4):591-601. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.02.337
- Bikbov B, Purcell CA, Levey AS, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of chronic kidney disease, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet*. 2020;395(10225):709-733.
- 36. Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, et al. Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases and Risk Factors, 1990-2019: Update From the GBD 2019 Study. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. Dec 22 2020;76(25):2982-3021. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2020.11.010
- Finlay S, Bray B, Lewington AJ, et al. Identification of risk factors associated with acute kidney injury in patients admitted to acute medical units. *Clinical medicine (London, England)*. Jun 2013;13(3):233-8. doi:10.7861/clinmedicine.13-3-233
- 38. Yu ASL, Chertow GM, Luyckx VrA, Marsden PA, Skorecki K, Taal MW. *Brenner & Rector's the kidney*. Eleventh edition. ed. Elsevier; 2019.
- 39. Bellomo R, Bagshaw S, Langenberg C, Ronco C. Pre-renal azotemia: a flawed paradigm in critically ill septic patients? *Contrib Nephrol*. 2007;156:1-9. doi:10.1159/000102008
- 40. Ronco C, Bellomo R, Kellum JA. Acute kidney injury. *Lancet*. Nov 23 2019;394(10212):1949-1964. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32563-2
- 41. Kellum JA, Prowle JR. Paradigms of acute kidney injury in the intensive care setting. *Nature reviews Nephrology*. Apr 2018;14(4):217-230. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2017.184
- 42. Kellum JA. Persistent Acute Kidney Injury. *Critical care medicine*. Aug 2015;43(8):1785-6. doi:10.1097/CCM.0000000001102
- Ostermann M, Wu V, Sokolov D, Lumlertgul N. Definitions of acute renal dysfunction: an evolving clinical and biomarker paradigm. *Curr Opin Crit Care*. Dec 1 2021;27(6):553-559. doi:10.1097/MCC.00000000000886

- 44. Ostermann M, Chang RW. Acute kidney injury in the intensive care unit according to RIFLE. *Critical care medicine*. Aug 2007;35(8):1837-43; quiz 1852. doi:10.1097/01.CCM.0000277041.13090.0A
- 45. Coca SG, Yusuf B, Shlipak MG, Garg AX, Parikh CR. Long-term risk of mortality and other adverse outcomes after acute kidney injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. Jun 2009;53(6):961-73. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2008.11.034
- 46. Ostermann M, Cerdá J. The Burden of Acute Kidney Injury and Related Financial Issues. *Contrib Nephrol.* 2018;193:100-112. doi:10.1159/000484967
- 47. Gameiro J, Marques F, Lopes JA. Long-term consequences of acute kidney injury: a narrative review. *Clin Kidney J*. Mar 2021;14(3):789-804. doi:10.1093/ckj/sfaa177
- 48. Goldstein SL, Jaber BL, Faubel S, Chawla LS, Acute Kidney Injury Advisory Group of American Society of N. AKI transition of care: a potential opportunity to detect and prevent CKD. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Mar 2013;8(3):476-83. doi:10.2215/CJN.12101112
- 49. Coca SG, Singanamala S, Parikh CR. Chronic kidney disease after acute kidney injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Kidney international*. Mar 2012;81(5):442-8. doi:10.1038/ki.2011.379
- 50. Hsu CY, Hsu RK, Yang J, Ordonez JD, Zheng S, Go AS. Elevated BP after AKI. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. Mar 2016;27(3):914-23. doi:10.1681/ASN.201411114
- 51. Wu VC, Wu CH, Huang TM, et al. Long-term risk of coronary events after AKI. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. Mar 2014;25(3):595-605. doi:10.1681/ASN.2013060610
- 52. Odutayo A, Wong CX, Farkouh M, et al. AKI and Long-Term Risk for Cardiovascular Events and Mortality. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. Jan 2017;28(1):377-387. doi:10.1681/ASN.2016010105
- 53. Go AS, Hsu CY, Yang J, et al. Acute Kidney Injury and Risk of Heart Failure and Atherosclerotic Events. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Jun 7 2018;13(6):833-841. doi:10.2215/CJN.12591117
- 54. Goldberg A, Kogan E, Hammerman H, Markiewicz W, Aronson D. The impact of transient and persistent acute kidney injury on long-term outcomes after acute myocardial infarction. *Kidney international*. Oct 2009;76(8):900-6. doi:10.1038/ki.2009.295
- 55. Chawla LS, Eggers PW, Star RA, Kimmel PL. Acute kidney injury and chronic kidney disease as interconnected syndromes. *The New England journal of medicine*. Jul 3 2014;371(1):58-66. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1214243
- 56. Hsu CY. Yes, AKI truly leads to CKD. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. Jun 2012;23(6):967-9. doi:10.1681/ASN.2012030222
- 57. Bucaloiu ID, Kirchner HL, Norfolk ER, Hartle JE, 2nd, Perkins RM. Increased risk of death and de novo chronic kidney disease following reversible acute kidney injury. *Kidney international*. Mar 2012;81(5):477-85. doi:10.1038/ki.2011.405

- 58. Jones J, Holmen J, De Graauw J, Jovanovich A, Thornton S, Chonchol M. Association of complete recovery from acute kidney injury with incident CKD stage 3 and all-cause mortality. *American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. Sep 2012;60(3):402-8. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2012.03.014
- 59. Newsome BB, Warnock DG, McClellan WM, et al. Long-term risk of mortality and end-stage renal disease among the elderly after small increases in serum creatinine level during hospitalization for acute myocardial infarction. *Archives of internal medicine*. Mar 24 2008;168(6):609-16. doi:10.1001/archinte.168.6.609
- 60. Wald R, Quinn RR, Luo J, et al. Chronic dialysis and death among survivors of acute kidney injury requiring dialysis. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association*. Sep 16 2009;302(11):1179-85. doi:10.1001/jama.2009.1322
- 61. Heung M, Chawla LS. Predicting progression to chronic kidney disease after recovery from acute kidney injury. *Current opinion in nephrology and hypertension*. Nov 2012;21(6):628-34. doi:10.1097/MNH.0b013e3283588f24
- 62. Pickkers P, Ostermann M, Joannidis M, et al. The intensive care medicine agenda on acute kidney injury. *Intensive Care Med*. Sep 2017;43(9):1198-1209. doi:10.1007/s00134-017-4687-2
- 63. Vanmassenhove J, Kielstein J, Jorres A, Biesen WV. Management of patients at risk of acute kidney injury. *Lancet*. May 27 2017;389(10084):2139-2151. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31329-6
- 64. Fletcher GS. *Clinical epidemiology: the essentials*. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2019.
- 65. Bajaj T, Koyner JL. Artificial Intelligence in Acute Kidney Injury Prediction. *Advances in chronic kidney disease*. Sep 2022;29(5):450-460. doi:10.1053/j.ackd.2022.07.009
- 66. Ostermann M, Karsten E, Lumlertgul N. Biomarker-Based Management of AKI: Fact or Fantasy? *Nephron*. 2022;146(3):295-301. doi:10.1159/000518365
- 67. Cho A, Lee JE, Yoon JY, et al. Effect of an electronic alert on risk of contrast-induced acute kidney injury in hospitalized patients undergoing computed tomography. *American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. Jul 2012;60(1):74-81. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2012.02.331
- 68. Huen SC, Parikh CR. Predicting acute kidney injury after cardiac surgery: a systematic review. *Ann Thorac Surg.* Jan 2012;93(1):337-47. doi:10.1016/j.athoracsur.2011.09.010
- 69. Meersch M, Schmidt C, Hoffmeier A, et al. Prevention of cardiac surgery-associated AKI by implementing the KDIGO guidelines in high risk patients identified by biomarkers: the PrevAKI randomized controlled trial. *Intensive Care Med*. Nov 2017;43(11):1551-1561. doi:10.1007/s00134-016-4670-3
- Colpaert K, Hoste EA, Steurbaut K, et al. Impact of real-time electronic alerting of acute kidney injury on therapeutic intervention and progression of RIFLE class. *Critical care medicine*. Apr 2012;40(4):1164-70. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182387a6b
- 71. Mehran R, Owen R, Chiarito M, et al. A contemporary simple risk score for prediction of contrastassociated acute kidney injury after percutaneous coronary intervention: derivation and validation

from an observational registry. *Lancet*. Nov 27 2021;398(10315):1974-1983. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02326-6

- 72. NHS England: Patient Safety Alert on Standardising the Early Identification of Acute Kidney Injury. . Accessed March 14, 2023. <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/2014/06/psa-aki/</u>
- 73. Barker J, Smith-Byrne K, Sayers O, et al. Electronic alerts for acute kidney injury across primary and secondary care. *BMJ Open Qual*. May 2021;10(2)doi:10.1136/bmjoq-2020-000956
- 74. Kolhe NV, Reilly T, Leung J, et al. A simple care bundle for use in acute kidney injury: a propensity score-matched cohort study. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association European Renal Association*. Nov 2016;31(11):1846-1854. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfw087
- 75. von Groote TC, Ostermann M, Forni LG, Meersch-Dini M, Zarbock A, Prev AKII. The AKI care bundle: all bundle components are created equal-are they? *Intensive Care Med*. Feb 2022;48(2):242-245. doi:10.1007/s00134-021-06601-0
- 76. Joannidis M, Druml W, Forni LG, et al. Prevention of acute kidney injury and protection of renal function in the intensive care unit: update 2017 : Expert opinion of the Working Group on Prevention, AKI section, European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. *Intensive Care Med*. Jun 2017;43(6):730-749. doi:10.1007/s00134-017-4832-y
- 77. Kolhe NV, Staples D, Reilly T, et al. Impact of Compliance with a Care Bundle on Acute Kidney Injury Outcomes: A Prospective Observational Study. *PloS one*. 2015;10(7):e0132279. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0132279
- 78. Karsanji DJ, Pannu N, Manns BJ, et al. Disparity between Nephrologists' Opinions and Contemporary Practices for Community Follow-Up after AKI Hospitalization. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Nov 7 2017;12(11):1753-1761. doi:10.2215/CJN.01450217
- 79. Harel Z, Wald R, Bargman JM, et al. Nephrologist follow-up improves all-cause mortality of severe acute kidney injury survivors. *Kidney international*. May 2013;83(5):901-8. doi:10.1038/ki.2012.451
- Chawla LS, Bellomo R, Bihorac A, et al. Acute kidney disease and renal recovery: consensus report of the Acute Disease Quality Initiative (ADQI) 16 Workgroup. *Nature reviews Nephrology*. Apr 2017;13(4):241-257. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2017.2
- 81. Lameire NH, Levin A, Kellum JA, et al. Harmonizing acute and chronic kidney disease definition and classification: report of a Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Consensus Conference. *Kidney international*. Sep 2021;100(3):516-526. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2021.06.028
- 82. Carrero JJ, Fu EL, Vestergaard SV, et al. Defining measures of kidney function in observational studies using routine health care data: methodological and reporting considerations. *Kidney international*. Jan 2023;103(1):53-69. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2022.09.020
- 83. Logan R, Davey P, De Souza N, Baird D, Guthrie B, Bell S. Assessing the accuracy of ICD-10 coding for measuring rates of and mortality from acute kidney injury and the impact of electronic alerts: an observational cohort study. *Clin Kidney J*. Dec 2020;13(6):1083-1090. doi:10.1093/ckj/sfz117

- 84. Hwang YJ, Shariff SZ, Gandhi S, et al. Validity of the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision code for acute kidney injury in elderly patients at presentation to the emergency department and at hospital admission. *BMJ open*. 2012;2(6)doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001821
- 85. Waikar SS, Wald R, Chertow GM, et al. Validity of International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification Codes for Acute Renal Failure. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. Jun 2006;17(6):1688-94. doi:10.1681/ASN.2006010073
- 86. Grams ME, Waikar SS, MacMahon B, Whelton S, Ballew SH, Coresh J. Performance and limitations of administrative data in the identification of AKI. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology* : *CJASN*. Apr 2014;9(4):682-9. doi:10.2215/CJN.07650713
- Siew ED, Basu RK, Wunsch H, et al. Optimizing administrative datasets to examine acute kidney injury in the era of big data: workgroup statement from the 15(th) ADQI Consensus Conference. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* 2016;3:12. doi:10.1186/s40697-016-0098-5
- 88. Kellum JA, Sileanu FE, Murugan R, Lucko N, Shaw AD, Clermont G. Classifying AKI by Urine Output versus Serum Creatinine Level. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. Sep 2015;26(9):2231-8. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014070724
- Levey AS, Eckardt KU, Dorman NM, et al. Nomenclature for kidney function and disease: report of a Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Consensus Conference. *Kidney international*. Jun 2020;97(6):1117-1129. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2020.02.010
- 90. Guthrie G, Guthrie B, Walker H, et al. Developing an AKI Consensus Definition for Database Research: Findings From a Scoping Review and Expert Opinion Using a Delphi Process. *American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. Apr 2022;79(4):488-496 e1. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2021.05.019
- 91. Stevens LA, Coresh J, Greene T, Levey AS. Assessing kidney function--measured and estimated glomerular filtration rate. *The New England journal of medicine*. Jun 8 2006;354(23):2473-83. doi:10.1056/NEJMra054415
- 92. Botev R, Mallie JP, Couchoud C, et al. Estimating glomerular filtration rate: Cockcroft-Gault and Modification of Diet in Renal Disease formulas compared to renal inulin clearance. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. May 2009;4(5):899-906. doi:10.2215/CJN.05371008
- 93. Miles RR, Roberts RF, Putnam AR, Roberts WL. Comparison of serum and heparinized plasma samples for measurement of chemistry analytes. *Clinical chemistry*. Sep 2004;50(9):1704-6. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2004.036533
- 94. Rustad P, Felding P, Franzson L, et al. The Nordic Reference Interval Project 2000: recommended reference intervals for 25 common biochemical properties. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest*. 2004;64(4):271-84. doi:10.1080/00365510410006324
- 95. Bouchard J. Estimating Baseline Serum Creatinine for Assessing Acute Kidney Injury: Not a One Size Fits All Approach. *Kidney Int Rep.* Mar 2021;6(3):562-564. doi:10.1016/j.ekir.2021.01.030
- 96. Siew ED, Ikizler TA, Matheny ME, et al. Estimating baseline kidney function in hospitalized patients with impaired kidney function. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. May 2012;7(5):712-9. doi:10.2215/CJN.10821011

- 97. Liu KD, Hsu CY, Yang J, et al. Acute Kidney Injury Ascertainment Is Affected by the Use of First Inpatient Versus Outpatient Baseline Serum Creatinine. *Kidney Int Rep.* Jan 2018;3(1):211-215. doi:10.1016/j.ekir.2017.08.011
- 98. Crellin E, Mansfield KE, Leyrat C, et al. Trimethoprim use for urinary tract infection and risk of adverse outcomes in older patients: cohort study. *BMJ*. Feb 9 2018;360:k341. doi:10.1136/bmj.k341
- 99. Siew ED, Peterson JF, Eden SK, et al. Outpatient nephrology referral rates after acute kidney injury. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. Feb 2012;23(2):305-12. doi:10.1681/ASN.2011030315
- 100. Sawhney S, Marks A, Fluck N, Levin A, Prescott G, Black C. Intermediate and Long-term Outcomes of Survivors of Acute Kidney Injury Episodes: A Large Population-Based Cohort Study. *American journal* of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation. Jan 2017;69(1):18-28. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.05.018
- 101. Kashani K, Shao M, Li G, et al. No increase in the incidence of acute kidney injury in a populationbased annual temporal trends epidemiology study. *Kidney international*. Sep 2017;92(3):721-728. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2017.03.020
- 102. Siew ED, Parr SK, Abdel-Kader K, et al. Predictors of Recurrent AKI. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. Apr 2016;27(4):1190-200. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014121218
- 103. Graversen HV, Jensen SK, Vestergaard SV, Heide-Jorgensen U, Christiansen CF. Defining Baseline Creatinine for Identification of AKI in Population-Based Laboratory Databases: A Danish Nationwide Cohort Study. *Kidney360*. Feb 24 2022;3(2):232-241. doi:10.34067/KID.0006082021
- 104. Siew ED, Peterson JF, Eden SK, Moons KG, Ikizler TA, Matheny ME. Use of multiple imputation method to improve estimation of missing baseline serum creatinine in acute kidney injury research. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Jan 2013;8(1):10-8. doi:10.2215/CJN.00200112
- 105. Liano F, Pascual J. Epidemiology of acute renal failure: a prospective, multicenter, community-based study. Madrid Acute Renal Failure Study Group. *Kidney international*. Sep 1996;50(3):811-8. doi:10.1038/ki.1996.380
- 106. Siew ED, Matheny ME, Ikizler TA, et al. Commonly used surrogates for baseline renal function affect the classification and prognosis of acute kidney injury. *Kidney international*. Mar 2010;77(6):536-42. doi:10.1038/ki.2009.479
- 107. Cooper DJ, Plewes K, Grigg MJ, et al. An Evaluation of Commonly Used Surrogate Baseline Creatinine Values to Classify AKI During Acute Infection. *Kidney Int Rep.* Mar 2021;6(3):645-656. doi:10.1016/j.ekir.2020.12.020
- 108. Forni LG, Darmon M, Ostermann M, et al. Renal recovery after acute kidney injury. *Intensive Care Med.* Jun 2017;43(6):855-866. doi:10.1007/s00134-017-4809-x
- 109. Kampmann JD, Goya Heaf J, Mogensen CB, Mickley H, Brandt F. Kidney Disease Cohort (KidDiCo) of Southern Denmark: Design, Coverage, Generalizability and Implications for Use. *Clinical* epidemiology. 2021;13:971-980. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S328512

- 110. Henriksen DP, Damkier P, Hallas J, Nybo M. Sixteen years of creatinine measurements among 460 000 individuals-The Funen Laboratory Cohort (FLaC), a population-based pharmacoepidemiological resource to study drug-induced kidney disease. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol*. May 2019;124(5):582-590. doi:10.1111/bcpt.13167
- 111. Runesson B, Gasparini A, Qureshi AR, et al. The Stockholm CREAtinine Measurements (SCREAM) project: protocol overview and regional representativeness. *Clin Kidney J*. Feb 2016;9(1):119-27. doi:10.1093/ckj/sfv117
- 112. Garg AX, Mamdani M, Juurlink DN, van Walraven C, Network of Eastern Ontario Medical L. Identifying individuals with a reduced GFR using ambulatory laboratory database surveillance. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. May 2005;16(5):1433-9. doi:10.1681/ASN.2004080697
- 113. Hsu RK, Hsu CY. The Role of Acute Kidney Injury in Chronic Kidney Disease. *Semin Nephrol*. Jul 2016;36(4):283-92. doi:10.1016/j.semnephrol.2016.05.005
- 114. Wu VC, Huang TM, Lai CF, et al. Acute-on-chronic kidney injury at hospital discharge is associated with long-term dialysis and mortality. *Kidney international*. Dec 2011;80(11):1222-30. doi:10.1038/ki.2011.259
- 115. Haines RW, Powell-Tuck J, Leonard H, Crichton S, Ostermann M. Long-term kidney function of patients discharged from hospital after an intensive care admission: observational cohort study. *Sci Rep.* May 11 2021;11(1):9928. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-89454-3
- 116. Nugent J, Aklilu A, Yamamoto Y, et al. Assessment of Acute Kidney Injury and Longitudinal Kidney Function After Hospital Discharge Among Patients With and Without COVID-19. JAMA Netw Open. Mar 1 2021;4(3):e211095. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.1095
- 117. Hsu RK, Hsu CY, McCulloch CE, et al. Research-based versus clinical serum creatinine measurements and the association of acute kidney injury with subsequent kidney function: findings from the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort study. *Clin Kidney J*. Feb 2020;13(1):55-62. doi:10.1093/ckj/sfz057
- 118. Asar O, Ritchie J, Kalra PA, Diggle PJ. Short-term and long-term effects of acute kidney injury in chronic kidney disease patients: A longitudinal analysis. *Biom J*. Nov 2016;58(6):1552-1566. doi:10.1002/bimj.201500270
- 119. D'Hoore E, Neirynck N, Schepers E, et al. Chronic kidney disease progression is mainly associated with non-recovery of acute kidney injury. *Journal of nephrology*. Dec 2015;28(6):709-16. doi:10.1007/s40620-015-0181-5
- 120. James MT, Ghali WA, Tonelli M, et al. Acute kidney injury following coronary angiography is associated with a long-term decline in kidney function. *Kidney international*. Oct 2010;78(8):803-9. doi:10.1038/ki.2010.258
- Amdur RL, Chawla LS, Amodeo S, Kimmel PL, Palant CE. Outcomes following diagnosis of acute renal failure in U.S. veterans: focus on acute tubular necrosis. *Kidney international*. Nov 2009;76(10):1089-97. doi:10.1038/ki.2009.332

- 122. Mehta RL, Cerda J, Burdmann EA, et al. International Society of Nephrology's Oby25 initiative for acute kidney injury (zero preventable deaths by 2025): a human rights case for nephrology. *Lancet*. Jun 27 2015;385(9987):2616-43. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60126-X
- 123. Herrera-Anazco P, Ccorahua-Rios MS, Condori-Huaraka M, Huamanvilca-Yepez Y, Amaya E, Atamari-Anahui N. National trends in age-standardized incidence and mortality rates of acute kidney injury in Peru. J Bras Nefrol. Jul-Sep 2020;42(3):330-337. doi:10.1590/2175-8239-JBN-2019-0132
- 124. Stack AG, Li X, Kaballo MA, et al. Temporal trends in acute kidney injury across health care settings in the Irish health system: a cohort study. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association European Renal Association*. Mar 1 2020;35(3):447-457. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfy226
- 125. Sawhney S, Robinson HA, van der Veer SN, et al. Acute kidney injury in the UK: a replication cohort study of the variation across three regional populations. *BMJ open*. Jun 30 2018;8(6):e019435. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019435
- 126. Wang Y, Wang J, Su T, et al. Community-Acquired Acute Kidney Injury: A Nationwide Survey in China. *American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. May 2017;69(5):647-657. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.10.034
- 127. Kolhe NV, Fluck RJ, Muirhead AW, Taal MW. Regional Variation in Acute Kidney Injury Requiring Dialysis in the English National Health Service from 2000 to 2015 - A National Epidemiological Study. *PloS one*. 2016;11(10):e0162856. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0162856
- 128. Yang L, Xing G, Wang L, et al. Acute kidney injury in China: a cross-sectional survey. *Lancet*. Oct 10 2015;386(10002):1465-71. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00344-X
- 129. Hsu RK, McCulloch CE, Ku E, Dudley RA, Hsu CY. Regional variation in the incidence of dialysisrequiring AKI in the United States. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Sep 2013;8(9):1476-81. doi:10.2215/CJN.12611212
- 130. Patel SS, Palant CE, Mahajan V, Chawla LS. Sequelae of AKI. *Best practice & research Clinical anaesthesiology*. Sep 2017;31(3):415-425. doi:10.1016/j.bpa.2017.08.004
- James MT, Ghali WA, Knudtson ML, et al. Associations between acute kidney injury and cardiovascular and renal outcomes after coronary angiography. *Circulation*. Feb 1 2011;123(4):409-16. doi:10.1161/circulationaha.110.970160
- 132. Schiffl H, Fischer R. Five-year outcomes of severe acute kidney injury requiring renal replacement therapy. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association European Renal Association*. Jul 2008;23(7):2235-41. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfn182
- 133. Chawla LS, Amdur RL, Shaw AD, Faselis C, Palant CE, Kimmel PL. Association between AKI and longterm renal and cardiovascular outcomes in United States veterans. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Mar 2014;9(3):448-56. doi:10.2215/cjn.02440213
- 134. Mehta S, Chauhan K, Patel A, et al. The prognostic importance of duration of AKI: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Nephrol*. Apr 19 2018;19(1):91. doi:10.1186/s12882-018-0876-7

- Sawhney S, Mitchell M, Marks A, Fluck N, Black C. Long-term prognosis after acute kidney injury (AKI): what is the role of baseline kidney function and recovery? A systematic review. *BMJ open*. Jan 6 2015;5(1):e006497. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006497
- 136. Kellum JA, Sileanu FE, Bihorac A, Hoste EA, Chawla LS. Recovery after Acute Kidney Injury. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. Mar 15 2017;195(6):784-791. doi:10.1164/rccm.201604-0799OC
- Ozrazgat-Baslanti T, Loftus TJ, Mohandas R, et al. Clinical Trajectories of Acute Kidney Injury in Surgical Sepsis: A Prospective Observational Study. *Annals of surgery*. Jun 1 2022;275(6):1184-1193. doi:10.1097/SLA.00000000004360
- 138. Wang H, Lambourg E, Guthrie B, Morales DR, Donnan PT, Bell S. Patient outcomes following AKI and AKD: a population-based cohort study. *BMC Med*. Jul 20 2022;20(1):229. doi:10.1186/s12916-022-02428-8
- 139. Ikizler TA, Parikh CR, Himmelfarb J, et al. A prospective cohort study of acute kidney injury and kidney outcomes, cardiovascular events, and death. *Kidney international*. Feb 2021;99(2):456-465. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2020.06.032
- Bhatraju PK, Zelnick LR, Chinchilli VM, et al. Association Between Early Recovery of Kidney Function After Acute Kidney Injury and Long-term Clinical Outcomes. JAMA Netw Open. Apr 1 2020;3(4):e202682. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.2682
- 141. Siew ED, Abdel-Kader K, Perkins AM, et al. Timing of Recovery From Moderate to Severe AKI and the Risk for Future Loss of Kidney Function. *American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. Feb 2020;75(2):204-213. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2019.05.031
- 142. Bravi CA, Vertosick E, Benfante N, et al. Impact of Acute Kidney Injury and Its Duration on Long-term Renal Function After Partial Nephrectomy. *Eur Urol*. Sep 2019;76(3):398-403. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2019.04.040
- 143. Mizota T, Dong L, Takeda C, et al. Transient acute kidney injury after major abdominal surgery increases chronic kidney disease risk and 1-year mortality. *J Crit Care*. Apr 2019;50:17-22. doi:10.1016/j.jcrc.2018.11.008
- 144. Palomba H, Castro I, Yu L, Burdmann EA. The duration of acute kidney injury after cardiac surgery increases the risk of long-term chronic kidney disease. *Journal of nephrology*. Aug 2017;30(4):567-572. doi:10.1007/s40620-016-0351-0
- 145. Heung M, Steffick DE, Zivin K, et al. Acute Kidney Injury Recovery Pattern and Subsequent Risk of CKD: An Analysis of Veterans Health Administration Data. *American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. May 2016;67(5):742-52. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.10.019
- 146. Pannu N, James M, Hemmelgarn B, Klarenbach S, Alberta Kidney Disease N. Association between AKI, recovery of renal function, and long-term outcomes after hospital discharge. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Feb 2013;8(2):194-202. doi:10.2215/CJN.06480612
- 147. Gammelager H, Christiansen CF, Johansen MB, Tonnesen E, Jespersen B, Sorensen HT. Three-year risk of cardiovascular disease among intensive care patients with acute kidney injury: a population-

based cohort study. *Critical care (London, England)*. Oct 14 2014;18(5):492. doi:10.1186/s13054-014-0492-2

- 148. Choi AI, Li Y, Parikh C, Volberding PA, Shlipak MG. Long-term clinical consequences of acute kidney injury in the HIV-infected. *Kidney international*. Sep 2010;78(5):478-85. doi:10.1038/ki.2010.171
- 149. van Kuijk JP, Flu WJ, Chonchol M, et al. Temporary perioperative decline of renal function is an independent predictor for chronic kidney disease. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Jul 2010;5(7):1198-204. doi:10.2215/CJN.00020110
- 150. Grann AF, Erichsen R, Nielsen AG, Froslev T, Thomsen RW. Existing data sources for clinical epidemiology: The clinical laboratory information system (LABKA) research database at Aarhus University, Denmark. *Clinical epidemiology*. Apr 1 2011;3:133-8. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S17901
- Arendt JFH, Hansen AT, Ladefoged SA, Sorensen HT, Pedersen L, Adelborg K. Existing Data Sources in Clinical Epidemiology: Laboratory Information System Databases in Denmark. *Clinical epidemiology*. 2020;12:469-475. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S245060
- 152. Statistics Denmark. Population figures. Accessed February 24, 2023. https://www.dst.dk/da/Statistik/emner/borgere/befolkning/befolkningstal
- 153. Schmidt M, Schmidt SAJ, Adelborg K, et al. The Danish health care system and epidemiological research: from health care contacts to database records. *Clinical epidemiology*. 2019;11:563-591. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S179083
- Schmidt M, Schmidt SA, Sandegaard JL, Ehrenstein V, Pedersen L, Sorensen HT. The Danish National Patient Registry: a review of content, data quality, and research potential. *Clinical epidemiology*. 2015;7:449-90. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S91125
- 155. Schmidt M, Pedersen L, Sorensen HT. The Danish Civil Registration System as a tool in epidemiology. *European journal of epidemiology*. Aug 2014;29(8):541-9. doi:10.1007/s10654-014-9930-3
- 156. Pottegard A, Schmidt SAJ, Wallach-Kildemoes H, Sorensen HT, Hallas J, Schmidt M. Data Resource Profile: The Danish National Prescription Registry. *International journal of epidemiology*. Jun 1 2017;46(3):798-798f. doi:10.1093/ije/dyw213
- 157. Andersen JS, Olivarius Nde F, Krasnik A. The Danish National Health Service Register. *Scandinavian journal of public health*. Jul 2011;39(7 Suppl):34-7. doi:10.1177/1403494810394718
- 158. Erichsen R, Lash TL, Hamilton-Dutoit SJ, Bjerregaard B, Vyberg M, Pedersen L. Existing data sources for clinical epidemiology: the Danish National Pathology Registry and Data Bank. *Clinical epidemiology*. 2010;2:51-56.
- 159. Statistics Denmark. StatBank Denmark. https://www.statbank.dk/statbank5a/default.asp?w=1920
- 160. Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Vestergaard SV, Sørensen HT, Christiansen CF. Routine Clinical Care Creatinine Data in Denmark - An Epidemiological Resource for Nationwide Population-Based Studies of Kidney Disease. *Clinical epidemiology*. 2022;14:1415-1426. doi:10.2147/clep.S380840
- 161. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. *Annals of internal medicine*. May 5 2009;150(9):604-12. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-150-9-200905050-00006

- 162. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group. KDIGO 2012 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease. *KKidney international.*, Suppl. 2013; 3: 1–150.
- 163. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. *J Chronic Dis.* 1987;40(5):373-83. doi:10.1016/0021-9681(87)90171-8
- 164. Thygesen SK, Christiansen CF, Christensen S, Lash TL, Sorensen HT. The predictive value of ICD-10 diagnostic coding used to assess Charlson comorbidity index conditions in the population-based Danish National Registry of Patients. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. May 28 2011;11:83. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-11-83
- 165. Statistics Denmark. Municipality Groups. Accessed 1 December, 2022. https://www.dst.dk/en/Statistik/dokumentation/nomenklaturer/kommunegrupper
- 166. Region Hovedstaden. Forløbsprogram for Type 2 Diabetes. Accessed August 17, 2022. <u>https://www.regionh.dk/til-fagfolk/Sundhed/Tvaersektorielt-samarbejde/kronisk-</u> <u>sygdom/Forl%C3%B8bsprogrammer/Documents/Revideret%20FP%20for%20T2DM.pdf</u>
- 167. Region Midtjylland. Forløbsprogram for type 2 diabetes. Accessed August 17, 2022. <u>https://www.rm.dk/globalassets/zdesign/media/sundhed/sundhedsstaben/regionalt-</u> <u>sundhedssamarbejde/kronisk-sygdom/kronikeromradet/diabetes-type-2/forlobsprogram-for-type-2-</u> <u>diabetes-godkendt.pdf</u>
- 168. Region Syddanmark. Nye rammer for kronisk sygdom. Accessed August 17, 2022. <u>https://regionsyddanmark.dk/fagfolk/det-naere-sundhedsvaesen/samarbejdsaftaler/nye-rammer-for-kronisk-sygdom</u>
- 169. Region Nordjylland. Samarbejdsaftalen for Diabetes Type 2. Accessed August 17, 2022. <u>https://rn.dk/sundhed/til-sundhedsfaglige-og-samarbejdspartnere/rehabiliteringsindsatser-for-mennesker-med-kronisk-sygdom/diabetes-type-2</u>
- 170. Region Sjælland. Diabetes Type 2. . Accessed August 17, 2022. <u>https://www.regionsjaelland.dk/Sundhed/patient-i-region-</u> <u>sjaelland/Sundhedsaftalen/Forebyggelse/Forloebsprogrammer/Documents/Forl%C3%B8bsprogram%</u> <u>20T2DM%2024102017.pdf</u>
- 171. Kirkwood BR, Sterne JAC. *Essential Medical Statistics*. Essentials. John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated; 2003.
- 172. Jensen SK, Heide-Jørgensen U, Vestergaard SV, et al. Kidney function before and after acute kidney injury: a nationwide population-based cohort study. *Clin Kidney J*. Mar 2023;16(3):484-493. doi:10.1093/ckj/sfac247
- 173. Rothman KJ, Lash TL, VanderWeele TJ, Haneuse S. *Modern epidemiology*. Fourth edition. ed. Wolters Kluwer; 2021.
- 174. Swift MB. A simulation study comparing methods for calculating confidence intervals for directly standardized rates. *Computational statistics & data analysis*. 2010;54(4):1103-1108.

- 175. Aalen OO, Johansen S. An empirical transition matrix for non-homogeneous Markov chains based on censored observations. *Scandinavian Journal of Statistics*. 1978:141-150.
- 176. Austin PC, Lee DS, Fine JP. Introduction to the Analysis of Survival Data in the Presence of Competing Risks. *Circulation*. Feb 9 2016;133(6):601-9. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.017719
- 177. Andersen PK, Geskus RB, de Witte T, Putter H. Competing risks in epidemiology: possibilities and pitfalls. *International journal of epidemiology*. Jun 2012;41(3):861-70. doi:10.1093/ije/dyr213
- 178. Kaplan EL, Meier P. Nonparametric estimation from incomplete observations. *Journal of the American statistical association*. 1958;53(282):457-481.
- 179. Cox DR. Regression Models and Life-Tables. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series B-Statistical Methodology*. 1972;34(2):187-+.
- 180. Sundhedsministeriet. Bekendtgørelse af lov om videnskabsetisk behandling af sundhedsvidenskabelige forskningsprojekter. Accessed 1 December, 2022. <u>https://www.retsinformation.dk/eli/lta/2017/1083</u>
- Sundhedsstyrelsen. Danskernes Sundhed Den Nationale Sundhedsprofil 2021. Accessed October 18, 2022. <u>https://www.sst.dk/da/Udgivelser/2022/Danskernes-sundhed</u>
- 182. Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, et al. 2018 ESC/ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension. *Eur Heart J*. Sep 1 2018;39(33):3021-3104. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehy339
- 183. Thompson AE, Anisimowicz Y, Miedema B, Hogg W, Wodchis WP, Aubrey-Bassler K. The influence of gender and other patient characteristics on health care-seeking behaviour: a QUALICOPC study. BMC Fam Pract. Mar 31 2016;17:38. doi:10.1186/s12875-016-0440-0
- 184. Wang Y, Hunt K, Nazareth I, Freemantle N, Petersen I. Do men consult less than women? An analysis of routinely collected UK general practice data. *BMJ open*. Aug 19 2013;3(8):e003320. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003320
- Cleary F, Prieto-Merino D, Hull S, Caplin B, Nitsch D. Feasibility of evaluation of the natural history of kidney disease in the general population using electronic healthcare records. *Clin Kidney J*. Jun 2021;14(6):1603-1609. doi:10.1093/ckj/sfaa175
- 186. Derose SF, Rutkowski MP, Crooks PW, et al. Racial differences in estimated GFR decline, ESRD, and mortality in an integrated health system. *American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. Aug 2013;62(2):236-44. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2013.01.019
- 187. Leffondre K, Boucquemont J, Tripepi G, Stel VS, Heinze G, Dunkler D. Analysis of risk factors associated with renal function trajectory over time: a comparison of different statistical approaches. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association. Aug 2015;30(8):1237-43. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfu320
- 188. Rifkin DE, Shlipak MG, Katz R, et al. Rapid kidney function decline and mortality risk in older adults. *Archives of internal medicine*. Nov 10 2008;168(20):2212-8. doi:10.1001/archinte.168.20.2212
- 189. Standards of medical care for patients with diabetes mellitus. American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes care*. Jun 1994;17(6):616-23. doi:10.2337/diacare.17.6.616

- 190. The Danish Clinical Quality Program National Clinical Registries (RKKP). Dansk Voksen Diabetes Database og Dansk Register for Børne- og Ungdomsdiabetes Årsrapport 2020-2021. Accessed August 17, 2022. <u>https://www.rkkp.dk/kvalitetsdatabaser/databaser/dansk-voksen-diabetesdatabasen/resultater/</u>
- 191. Prowle JR, Kolic I, Purdell-Lewis J, Taylor R, Pearse RM, Kirwan CJ. Serum creatinine changes associated with critical illness and detection of persistent renal dysfunction after AKI. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Jun 6 2014;9(6):1015-23. doi:10.2215/cjn.11141113
- 192. Sharma A, Mucino MJ, Ronco C. Renal functional reserve and renal recovery after acute kidney injury. *Nephron Clinical practice*. 2014;127(1-4):94-100. doi:10.1159/000363721
- 193. Anderson J, Glynn LG. Definition of chronic kidney disease and measurement of kidney function in original research papers: a review of the literature. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association European Renal Association*. Sep 2011;26(9):2793-8. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq849
- 194. Vestergaard SV, Christiansen CF, Thomsen RW, Birn H, Heide-Jørgensen U. Identification of Patients with CKD in Medical Databases: A Comparison of Different Algorithms. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*. Apr 7 2021;16(4):543-551. doi:10.2215/cjn.15691020
- 195. Rix TA, Riahi S, Overvad K, Lundbye-Christensen S, Schmidt EB, Joensen AM. Validity of the diagnoses atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter in a Danish patient registry. *Scand Cardiovasc J*. Jun 2012;46(3):149-53. doi:10.3109/14017431.2012.673728
- 196. Frost L, Andersen LV, Vestergaard P, Husted S, Mortensen LS. Trend in mortality after stroke with atrial fibrillation. *Am J Med*. Jan 2007;120(1):47-53. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2005.12.027
- 197. Johnsen SP, Overvad K, Sorensen HT, Tjonneland A, Husted SE. Predictive value of stroke and transient ischemic attack discharge diagnoses in The Danish National Registry of Patients. *J Clin Epidemiol*. Jun 2002;55(6):602-7. doi:10.1016/s0895-4356(02)00391-8
- 198. Schmidt M, Johannesdottir SA, Lemeshow S, et al. Obesity in young men, and individual and combined risks of type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular morbidity and death before 55 years of age: a Danish 33-year follow-up study. *BMJ open*. 2013;3(4)doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2013-002698
- 199. Wildenschild C, Mehnert F, Thomsen RW, et al. Registration of acute stroke: validity in the Danish Stroke Registry and the Danish National Registry of Patients. *Clinical epidemiology*. 2014;6:27-36. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S50449
- 200. Sundboll J, Adelborg K, Munch T, et al. Positive predictive value of cardiovascular diagnoses in the Danish National Patient Registry: a validation study. *BMJ open*. Nov 18 2016;6(11):e012832. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012832
- 201. Kumler T, Gislason GH, Kirk V, et al. Accuracy of a heart failure diagnosis in administrative registers. *Eur J Heart Fail*. Jul 2008;10(7):658-60. doi:10.1016/j.ejheart.2008.05.006
- 202. Porta M. A dictionary of epidemiology. Oxford university press; 2014.
- 203. Carstensen B, Kristensen JK, Marcussen MM, Borch-Johnsen K. The National Diabetes Register. Scandinavian journal of public health. Jul 2011;39(7 Suppl):58-61. doi:10.1177/1403494811404278

- 204. Thomsen RW, Hundborg HH, Lervang H-H, Johnsen SP, Sørensen HT, Schønheyder HC. Diabetes and Outcome of Community-Acquired Pneumococcal Bacteremia: A 10-year population-based cohort study. *Diabetes care*. 2004;27(1):70-76. doi:10.2337/diacare.27.1.70
- 205. Von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *Lancet*. 2007;370(9596):1453-1457.
- 206. Amrhein V, Greenland S, McShane B. Scientists rise up against statistical significance. *Nature*. 2019;567(7748):305-307.
- 207. Streja E, Goldstein L, Soohoo M, Obi Y, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Rhee CM. Modeling longitudinal data and its impact on survival in observational nephrology studies: tools and considerations. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association European Renal Association*. Apr 1 2017;32(suppl_2):ii77-ii83. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfx015
- 208. Chesnaye NC, Tripepi G, Dekker FW, Zoccali C, Zwinderman AH, Jager KJ. An introduction to joint models-applications in nephrology. *Clin Kidney J*. Apr 2020;13(2):143-149. doi:10.1093/ckj/sfaa024
- 209. Bagshaw SM, Wald R, Adhikari NKJ, et al. Timing of Initiation of Renal-Replacement Therapy in Acute Kidney Injury. *The New England journal of medicine*. Jul 16 2020;383(3):240-251. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2000741
- 210. Meersch M, Küllmar M, Pavenstädt H, et al. Effects of Different Doses of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning on Kidney Damage Among Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery: A Single-Center Mechanistic Randomized Controlled Trial. *Critical care medicine*. Aug 2020;48(8):e690-e697. doi:10.1097/ccm.00000000004415
- 211. Zarbock A, Schmidt C, Van Aken H, et al. Effect of remote ischemic preconditioning on kidney injury among high-risk patients undergoing cardiac surgery: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association*. Jun 2 2015;313(21):2133-41. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.4189
- 212. Bagshaw SM, Neto AS, Smith O, et al. Impact of renal-replacement therapy strategies on outcomes for patients with chronic kidney disease: a secondary analysis of the STARRT-AKI trial. *Intensive Care Med*. Dec 2022;48(12):1736-1750. doi:10.1007/s00134-022-06912-w

12. Appendices

The full versions of Studies I-IV are provided in the Appendices I-IV:

12

Study I

Study II

Study III

Study IV

Appendix I

Appendix II

Appendix III

Appendix IV